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DISTRICT COURT 

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 
 
 
NRS Chapters 78-89 COURT MINUTES January 04, 2021 

 
A-20-813439-B Spanish Heights Acquisition Company LLC, Plaintiff(s) 

vs. 
CBC Partners I LLC, Defendant(s) 

 
January 04, 2021 10:00 AM All Pending Motions  
 
HEARD BY: Gonzalez, Elizabeth  COURTROOM: RJC Courtroom 03E 
 
COURT CLERK: Dulce Romea 
 
RECORDER: Jill Hawkins 
 
PARTIES  
PRESENT: 

 
Barraza, Danielle J. Attorney for Plaintiffs 
Mushkin, Michael R. Attorney for Defendants 

 

 
JOURNAL ENTRIES 

 
- Parties appeared by telephone. 
 
Following arguments by counsel, COURT ORDERED as follows: 
 
PLAINTIFFS' RENEWED APPLICATION FOR TEMPORARY RESTRAINING ORDER AND 
MOTION FOR PRELIMINARY INJUNCTION ON AN ORDER SHORTENING TIME: Motion 
GRANTED on a limited basis that the July notice did not properly identify the current holder of the 
interest. Trial on the merits ADVANCED to the date of the date of Preliminary Injunction Hearing so 
all the factual issues raised can be put to bed. BOND LEFT at amounts currently paid by Mr. Bloom's 
company.  Proposed findings of fact and conclusions of law due January 29, 2021 at noon. Parties 
estimated 3 to 4 days. 
 
Mr. Mushkin advised discovery is closed and they have responded to everything except as to the 
issue of Dacia. Ms. Barraza advised they are expecting responses from subpoenas and will 
supplement disclosures. 
 
PLAINTIFFS' MOTION FOR AN ORDER TO SHOW CAUSE AS TO WHY DEFENDANT DACIA, 
LLC SHOULD NOT BE HELD IN CONTEMPT FOR FAILING TO ABIDE BY THIS COURT S 
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10/10/2020 ORDER DENYING MOTION FOR PROTECTIVE ORDERS: Motion GRANTED IN 
PART; information will be provided on an attorney's eyes only basis and can only be reviewed by 
Ms. Barraza and Mr. Mushkin -- no consultants, no staff members, no Mr. Bloom -- within 5 days of 
execution of a limited attorney's eyes only provision.  
 
Mr. Mushkin advised that regarding the sale he will issue a new notice today.  
 
Court suggested parties enter into a stipulation on those issue covered in the pleadings that will be 
tried on February 1st; if unable to, the Court will need competing versions within one week, or 
January 8th.  
 
STATUS CHECK: SCHEDULING OF CONTEMPT TRIAL: COURT ORDERED, preliminary 
injunction hearing and trial SET for Monday, February 1st at 1 pm.  
 
  
1-11-21        9:00 AM            RENEWED MOTION TO DISMISS FIRST AMENDED COMPLAINT AS 
TO DACIA, LLC OR IN THE ALTERNATIVE MOTION FOR SUMMARY 
JUDGMENT...DEFENDANTS/COUNTERCLAIMANTS MOTION TO QUASH SUBPOENA TO 
FIRST SAVINGS BANK AND FOR PROTECTIVE ORDER 
 
1-15-21        CHAMBERS     STATUS CHECK: ATTORNEY'S FEES 
 
2-1-21         1:00 PM              PRELIMINARY INJUNCTION HEARING AND TRIAL 
 
2-18-21        9:15 AM            PRE TRIAL CONFERENCE 
 
3-9-21          9:30 AM            CALENDAR CALL 
 
3-15-21        1:30 PM             JURY TRIAL 
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STIP 
JOSEPH A. GUTIERREZ, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 9046 
DANIELLE J. BARRAZA, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 13822 
MAIER GUTIERREZ & ASSOCIATES 
8816 Spanish Ridge Avenue 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89148 
Telephone: 702.629.7900 
Facsimile: 702.629.7925 
E-mail: jag@mgalaw.com     
 djb@mgalaw.com  
 
Attorneys for Plaintiffs 
 
 
 
 

DISTRICT COURT 
 

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 
 
 
SPANISH HEIGHTS ACQUISITION 
COMPANY, LLC, a Nevada Limited Liability 
Company; SJC VENTURES HOLDING 
COMPANY, LLC, d/b/a SJC VENTURES, 
LLC, a Delaware Limited Liability Company, 
 
                                            Plaintiffs, 
 
vs. 
 
CBC PARTNERS I, LLC, a foreign Limited 
Liability Company; CBC PARTNERS, LLC, a 
foreign Limited Liability Company; 5148 
SPANISH HEIGHTS, LLC, a Nevada Limited 
Liability Company; KENNETH ANTOS AND 
SHEILA NEUMANN-ANTOS, as Trustees of 
the Kenneth & Sheila Antos Living Trust and 
the Kenneth M. Antos & Sheila M. Neumann-
Antos Trust; DACIA, LLC, a foreign Limited 
Liability Company; DOES I through X; and 
ROE CORPORATIONS I through X, inclusive,
 
                                            Defendants. 

 

 
Case No.:   A-20-813439-B 
Dept. No.:  11 
 
STIPULATION REGARDING LEGAL 
ISSUES TO BE DECIDED BY THE COURT 
AT BIFURCATED TRIAL COMMENCING 
FEBRUARY 1, 2021 
 
 

 
 AND RELATED CLAIMS. 

 

 
 As requested by the Court, in preparation for the bifurcated trial commencing on February 1, 

2021, Plaintiffs/Counterdefendants and Defendants/Counterclaimants, by and through their respective 

Case Number: A-20-813439-B

Electronically Filed
1/12/2021 10:02 AM
Steven D. Grierson
CLERK OF THE COURT
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attorneys of record, hereby stipulate that the following unresolved legal issues should be adjudicated 

by the Court at the bifurcated trial: 

1) Contractual interpretation and/or validity of the underlying “Secured Promissory Note” 

between CBC Partners I, LLC and KCI Investments, LLC and all modifications thereto; 

2) Interpretation and/or validity of the claimed third-position Deed of Trust and all modifications 

thereto, and determination as to whether any consideration was provided in exchange for the 

Deed of Trust; 

3) Contractual interpretation and/or validity of the Forbearance Agreement, Amended 

Forbearance Agreement and all associated documents/contracts; 

4) Whether the Doctrine of Merger applies to the claims at issue; and 

5) Whether the One Action Rule applies to the claims at issue. 

 

  Dated this 11th day of January, 2021.           Dated this 11th day of January, 2021. 

Respectfully submitted, 

MAIER GUTIERREZ & ASSOCIATES 
 
 
__/s/ Danielle J. Barraza________________ 
JOSEPH A. GUTIERREZ, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 9046 
DANIELLE J. BARRAZA, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 13822 
8816 Spanish Ridge Avenue 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89148 
Attorneys for Plaintiffs 

Approved as to form and content: 
 
MUSHKIN & COPPEDGE 
 
 
__/s/ Michael R. Mushkin_________________ 
MICHAEL R. MUSHKIN, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 2421 
L. JOE COPPEDGE, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 4954 
6070 South Eastern Avenue, Suite 270 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89119 
Attorneys for Defendants CBC Partners I, LLC, 
CBC Partners, LLC, 5148 Spanish Heights, 
LLC, and Dacia LLC 
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DISTRICT COURT 

 

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 

 

SPANISH HEIGHTS ACQUISITION 

COMPANY, LLC, a Nevada Limited Liability 

Company; SJC VENTURES HOLDING 

COMPANY, LLC, d/b/a SJC VENTURES, 

LLC, a Delaware Limited Liability Company, 

 

Plaintiffs, 

v. 

 

CBC PARTNERS I, LLC, a foreign Limited 

Liability Company; CBC PARTNERS, LLC, a 

foreign Limited Liability Company; 5148 

SPANISH HEIGHTS, LLC, a Nevada Limited 

Liability Company; KENNETH ANTOS AND 

SHEILA NEUMANN-ANTOS, as Trustees of 

the Kenneth & Sheila Antos Living Trust and 

the Kenneth M. Antos & Sheila M. Neumann-

Antos Trust; DACIA, LLC, a foreign Limited 

Liability Company; DOES I through X; and 

ROE CORPORATIONS I through X, 

inclusive, 

 

Defendants. 

 

Case No. A-20-813439-B 

 

Dept. No.: XI 

 

 

 

 

FINDINGS OF FACT AND 

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW 

 
5148 SPANISH HEIGHTS, LLC, a Nevada 

limited liability company; and CBC 

PARTNERS I, LLC, a Washington limited 

liability company, 
 
Counterclaimants, 
 
v. 
 
SPANISH HEIGHTS ACQUISITION 

COMPANY, LLC, a Nevada Limited Liability 

Company; SJC VENTURES, LLC, a Delaware 

limited liability company; SJC VENTURES 

HOLDING COMPANY, LLC, a Delaware 

limited liability company; JAY BLOOM, 

individually and as Manager, DOE 

 

Case Number: A-20-813439-B

Electronically Filed
4/6/2021 12:19 PM
Steven D. Grierson
CLERK OF THE COURT
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DEFENDANTS 1-10; and ROE 

DEFENDANTS 11-20, 
 
Counterdefendants. 

 
FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW 

 
This matter having come on for preliminary injunction and consolidated non-jury trial on 

related issues pursuant to NRCP 65(a)(2)
1
 before the Honorable Elizabeth Gonzalez beginning 

on February 1, 2021, February 2, 2021 , February 3, 2021,
2
  and March 15, 2021; Plaintiffs 

SPANISH HEIGHTS ACQUISITION COMPANY, LLC, (“Spanish Heights”)
3
 and SJC 

VENTURES HOLDING COMPANY, LLC, d/b/a SJC VENTURES, LLC (“SJCV”) appearing 

by and through their representative Jay Bloom and their counsel of record JOSEPH A. 

GUTIERREZ, ESQ. and DANIELLE J. BARRAZA, ESQ. of the law firm of MAIER 

                                                 
1
  Pursuant to NRCP 65(a)(2), the parties have stipulated that the following legal issues surrounding the 

claims and counterclaims are advanced for trial to be heard in conjunction with the hearing on the preliminary 

injunction hearing: 

 

a) Contractual interpretation and/or validity of the underlying “Secured Promissory Note” between 

CBC Partners I, LLC, and KCI Investments, LLC, and all modifications (Counterclaim  First, Fourth, 

Ninth, and Twelfth Claim for Relief); 

b) Interpretation and/or validity of the claimed third-position Deed of Trust and all modifications 

thereto, and determination as to whether any consideration was provided in exchange for the Deed of Trust 

(Counterclaim  First, Fourth, Ninth, and Twelfth Claim for Relief); 

c) Contractual interpretation and/or validity of the Forbearance Agreement, Amended Forbearance 

Agreement and all associated documents/contracts (Counterclaim  First, Fourth, Ninth, and Twelfth Claim 

for Relief); 

d) Whether the Doctrine of Merger applies to the claims at issue (Amended Complaint Fourth, 

Seventh Cause of Action); and 

e) Whether the One Action Rule applies to the claims at issue (Amended Complaint Third Cause of 

Action). 

 

The injunctive relief claims are contained in the Amended Complaint Sixth Cause of Action. 

 
2
  The Court was advised on February 3, 2021, that Spanish Heights filed for bankruptcy protection.  The 

Court suspended these proceedings and stayed the matter for 30 days as to all parties for Defendants to seek relief 

from the stay.  As no order lifting the stay has been entered by the Bankruptcy Court, nothing in this order creates 

any obligations or liabilities directly related to Spanish Heights; however, factual findings related to Spanish Heights 

are included in this decision. The term “Plaintiffs” as used in these Findings of fact and Conclusions of Law is not 

intended to imply any action by this Court against the debtor, Spanish Heights. 

 
3
  As a result of the bankruptcy filing, Spanish Heights did not participate in these proceedings on March 15, 

2021.   
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GUTIERREZ & ASSOCIATES and Defendants CBC PARTNERS I, LLC, CBC PARTNERS, 

LLC, appearing by and through its representative Alan Hallberg (“Hallberg”); 5148 SPANISH 

HEIGHTS, LLC, KENNETH ANTOS and SHEILA NEUMANN-ANTOS, as Trustees of the 

Kenneth & Sheila Antos Living Trust and the Kenneth M. Antos & Sheila M. Neumann-Antos 

Trust; DACIA, LLC, (collectively “Defendants”)  all Defendants appearing by and through their 

counsel of record MICHAEL R. MUSHKIN, ESQ. and L. JOE COPPEDGE, ESQ. of the law 

firm of MUSHKIN & COPPEDGE; the Court having read and considered the pleadings filed by 

the parties; having reviewed the evidence admitted during the trial; having heard and carefully 

considered the testimony of the witnesses called to testify and weighing their credibility; having 

considered the oral and written arguments of counsel, and with the intent of rendering a decision 

on the limited claims before the Court at this time, pursuant to NRCP 52(a) and 58; the Court 

makes the following findings of fact and conclusions of law: 

I. Procedural Posture 

On April 9, 2020, the original complaint was filed and a Temporary Restraining Order 

was issued without notice by the then assigned judge.
4
  

Spanish Heights and SJCV initiated this action against CBC PARTNERS I, LLC, CBC 

PARTNERS, LLC, 5148 SPANISH HEIGHTS, LLC, KENNETH ANTOS AND SHEILA 

NEUMANN-ANTOS, as Trustees of the Kenneth & Sheila Antos Living Trust and the Kenneth 

M. Antos & Sheila M. Neumann-Antos Trust (“Antos Trust”); DACIA, LLC, with the First 

Amended Complaint being filed on May 15, 2020.   

By Order filed May 29, 2020, the Court granted Plaintiffs’ Motion for Preliminary 

Injunction on a limited basis that remained in effect until after expiration of the Governor’s 

                                                 
4
  This matter was reassigned to this department after an April 13, 2020, Request for Transfer to Business 

Court was made by the Defendants. 
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Emergency Directive 008.  

On June 10, 2020, defendants CBC PARTNERS I, LLC, CBC PARTNERS, LLC, and 

5148 Spanish Heights, LLC, filed their answer to the first amended complaint.   

Defendants CBC PARTNERS I, LLC, and 5148 Spanish Heights, LLC, have also filed a 

counterclaim against plaintiffs, and Jay Bloom.  

On September 3, 2020, Defendant Antos Trust filed an answer and counterclaim against 

SJCV, which SJCV answered on September 28, 2020.
5
   

II. Findings of Fact 

1. This action involves residential real property located at 5148 Spanish Heights 

Drive, Las Vegas, Nevada 89148, with Assessor’s Parcel Number 163-29-615-007 (“Property”).  

2. The original owners of the Property were Kenneth and Sheila Antos as joint 

tenants, with the original deed recorded in April 2007.   

3. On or about October 14, 2010, Kenneth M. Antos and Sheila M. Neumann-Antos 

(collectively, “Antos”) transferred the Property to Kenneth M. Antos and Sheila M. Neumann-

Antos, as Trustees of the Kenneth and Shelia Antos Living Trust dated April 26, 2007 (the 

“Antos Trust”, and together with “Antos”, the “Antos Parties”).  

4. Nonparty City National Bank is the beneficiary of a first-position Deed of Trust 

recorded on the Property.   

5. Nonparty Northern Trust Bank is the beneficiary of a second-position Deed of 

Trust recorded on the Property.   

6. The Property is currently owned by Spanish Heights
6
 which has entered into a 

                                                 
5
  The Antos have a pending motion for summary judgment. 

 
6
  The manager of Spanish Heights is SJCV. 
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written lease agreement with SJCV.
7
  

7. Although the Property is residential, it is not owner occupied, but is occupied by 

Jay Bloom (“Mr. Bloom”) and his family.  

8. On or about June 22, 2012, nonparty KCI entered into a Secured Promissory Note 

(the “Note”) with CBC Partners I, LLC, a Washington limited liability company (“CBCI”).  

9. The Note memorialized a $300,000 commercial loan that CBCI made to Antos’ 

restaurant company KCI to be used for the restaurant business.   

10. On or around June 22, 2012, Kenneth and Sheila Antos, in their individual 

capacities, signed a “Guaranty” in which they personally guaranteed payment of the Note.  

11. The Note was secured by a “Security Agreement” dated June 22, 2012, where the 

security interest includes KCI’s intellectual property, goods, tools, furnishings, furniture, 

equipment and fixtures, accounts, deposit accounts, chattel paper, and receivables.  

12. The Property was not included as collateral for the original Note. 

13. The Note was modified and amended several times.  

14. On November 13, 2013, a Fourth Modification to Secured Promissory Note 

(“Fourth Modification”) was executed.  

15. Paragraph 4 of the Fourth Modification amended Paragraph 6.12 of the Note as 

follows:  

6.12 Antos Debt. Permit guarantor Kenneth M. Antos (“Antos”) to incur, 

create, assume or permit to exist any debt secured by the real property 

located at 5148 Spanish Heights Drive, Las Vegas, Nevada 89148. 
 

16. Along with the Fourth Modification, the Antos Trust provided a Security 

Agreement with Respect to Interest in Settlement Agreement and Mutual Release (the “Security 

                                                                                                                                                             

 
7
  The manager of SJCV is Bloom. 
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Agreement”).  

17.  This Security Agreement not only granted a security interest in a Settlement 

Agreement, but also contained certain Representations, Warranties and Covenants of the Antos 

Parties, including: 

3.3 Sale, Encumbrance or Disposition.  Without the prior written consent 

of the Secured Party, Antos will not (a) allow the sale or encumbrance of 

any portion of the Collateral and (b) incur, create, assume or permit to 

exist any debt secured by the real property located at 5148 Spanish 

Heights Drive, Las Vegas, NV 89148, other than the first and second 

position deeds of trust or mortgages… 
 

18. KCI was acquired by Preferred Restaurant Brands, Inc. formerly known as Dixie 

Foods International, Inc. (“Dixie”). 

19. The Note was assumed by Dixie with the Antos Parties continuing to guaranty the 

obligation.  

20. On or about October 31, 2014, a Seventh Modification to Secured Promissory 

Note and Waiver of Defaults (“Seventh Modification”) was entered.  

21. CBCI determined that prior to extension of additional credit; additional security 

was required to replace a previously released security interest in other collateral. 

22. Paragraph 18(f) of the Seventh Modification provided for a condition precedent: 

Execution and delivery by Kenneth M. Antos and Sheila M. Neumann-

Antos, as Trustees of the Kenneth and Sheila Antos Living Trust dated 

April 26, 2007, and any amendments thereto (the “Antos Trust”) to Lender 

of a Deed of Trust on the real property located at 5148 Spanish Heights 

Drive, Las Vegas, Nevada 89148 (the “Real Property”), in form and 

substance satisfactory to Lender in its sole discretion. 
 

23. On or about December 17, 2014, the Antos Trust delivered to CBCI a Certificate 

of Trust Existence and Authority (“Certificate of Trust”).  

24. The Certificate of Trust provides in part: 

Kenneth M. Antos and Sheila M. Neumann-Antos, as trustees (each, a 
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“Trustee”) acting on behalf of the Trust, are each authorized and 

empowered in the name of the Trust without the approval or consent of the 

other Trustee, the beneficiaries, or any other person: 
 

To execute and deliver a Deed of Trust, Assignment of Rents, 

Security Agreement and Fixture Filing (the “Deed of Trust”), to 

secure (i) obligations owing to Lender by KCI Investments, LLC, a 

Nevada limited liability company, and Preferred Restaurant 

Brands, Inc., a Florida corporation (individually and collectively, 

“Borrower”), (ii) that certain Secured Promissory Note dated as of 

June 22, 2012, in the maximum principal amount of $3,250,000.00 

(the “Note”) executed by Borrower in favor of Lender, (iii) that 

certain Guaranty dated June 22, 2012, executed by the Grantors as 

individuals and not in their capacity as trustees, and (iv) the other 

documents and instruments executed or delivered in connection 

with the foregoing. 
 

25. The Certificate of Trust further provides:  

The Deed of Trust and Lender’s provision of credit under the terms of the 

Note will directly and indirectly benefit the Trust and its beneficiaries.  
 

The Trustees of the Trust have the authority to enter into the transactions 

with respect to which this Certificate is being delivered, and such 

transactions will create binding obligations on the assets of the Trust. 
 

26. On or about December 29, 2014, a Deed of Trust, Assignment of Rents, Security 

Agreement and Fixture Filing (the “Deed of Trust”) was recorded against the Property in the 

Clark County Recorder’s Office as Instrument No. 201412290002856 for the purpose of 

securing the Note.  

27. The revocable trust indirectly benefitted from this additional credit that was 

issued to Antos and his business by CBCI. 

28. The Deed of Trust is subordinate to the first mortgage to City National in the 

principal amount of approximately $3,240,000.00 with a monthly payment of $19,181.07, and a 

second mortgage to Northern Trust Bank in the principal amount of approximately $599,000.00 

with monthly payments of $3,034.00. 

29. On or about April 30, 2015, a Ninth Modification to Secured Promissory Note 
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and Waiver of Defaults (“Ninth Modification”) was executed.  

30. Paragraph 14(c) of the Ninth Modification provides for a condition precedent as 

follows: 

Execution by the Trustees of the Kenneth and Sheila Antos Living Trust 

dated April 26, 2007, and any amendments thereto, and delivery to Lender 

of the Correction to Deed of Trust Assignment of Rents, Security 

Agreement and Fixture Filing, in form and substance satisfactory to 

Lender.  
 

31. On July 22, 2015, a Correction to Deed of Trust, Assignment of Rent, Security 

Agreement and Fixture Filing (“Correction to Deed of Trust”) was recorded in the Clark County 

Recorder’s Office as Instrument No. 201507220001146.  

32. This Correction to Deed of Trust modified Paragraph One of the Deed of Trust to 

read: 

One: Payment of any and all amounts (collectively, the “Guarantied 

Obligations”) due and owing by Trustor under that certain Guaranty from 

Kenneth Antos and Sheila Antos (individually and collectively, 

“Guarantor”) dated June 22, 2012, in favor of Beneficiary (the 

“Guaranty”), guarantying the indebtedness evidenced by that certain 

Secured Promissory Note (and any renewals, extensions, modifications 

and substitutions thereof) (collectively, the “Note”), executed by KCI 

Investments, LLC, a Nevada limited liability company, and Preferred 

Restaurant Brands, Inc., a Florida corporation (individually and 

collectively, “Borrower”), dated June 22, 2012, as modified, in the 

maximum principal sum of THREE MILLION AND NO/100 DOLLARS 

($3,000,000.00), together with interest thereon, late charges and collection 

costs as provided in the Note. 

 

33. On or about December 2, 2016, CBCI sold a portion of the monetary obligations 

of the Note in the amount of $15,000.00 to Southridge Partners II, LP.  

34. On or about December 2, 2016, CBCI and KCI entered into a Forbearance 

Agreement.  

35. As part of the Forbearance Agreement, the Antos Trust executed a Consent, 

Reaffirmation, and General Release by the Trust wherein the Antos Trust agreed  
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to join in and be bound to the terms of the Representations and Warranties 

contained in Sections 4 and 7, and the General Release contained in 

Section 8 of the Agreement applicable as though the Trust were a Credit 

Party. 

 

36. On or about December 2, 2016, a Tenth Modification to Secured Promissory Note 

(“Tenth Modification”) was entered into.  

37. Paragraph 6(e) of the Tenth Modification provides for a condition precedent as 

follows:  

Delivery to Lender of a duly executed First Modification to Deed of Trust, 

Assignment of Rents, Security Agreement and Fixture Filing, by Kenneth 

M. Antos and Sheila M. Neumann-Antos, Trustees of the Kenneth and 

Sheila Antos Living Trust dated April 26, 2007, and any amendments 

thereto, as trustor, related to that certain Deed of Trust, Assignment of 

Rents, Security Agreement and Fixture Filing made December 17, 2014, 

and recorded in the Official Records of Clark County, Nevada, on 

December 29, 2014, as instrument number 20141229-0002856. 

 

38. On December 19, 2016, the First Modification to Deed of Trust, Assignment of 

Rents, Security Agreement and Fixture Filing was recorded in the Clark County Recorder’s 

Office as Instrument No. 201612190002739.  

39. On or about July 21, 2017, Mr. Bloom proposed to service the CBCI Note in 

exchange for the ownership in the Property. Specifically, Mr. Bloom wrote,   

My thought is that this proposal gets the 3rd lender: 

 a full recovery of its Note balance plus all protective advances past and future, 

 interim cash flow and 

 provides interim additional full collateral where, given the current value of the 

property, the 3rd position lender is currently unsecured. 

As to the Seller, he: 

 gets out from under a potential deficiency judgment from the 3rd position 

lender and 

 unburdens himself from any additional assets that may have been pledged. 

 

40. Spanish Heights was created to facilitate this transaction. 

41. On September 27, 2017, CBCI, the Antos Trust, Spanish Heights and Mr. 
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Bloom’s company, SJCV, entered into the 2017 Forbearance Agreement.  

42. The September 27, 2017 Forbearance Agreement indicates that Mr. Bloom’s 

company Spanish Heights intends to acquire the Property and make certain payments to CBCI 

pursuant to the terms of the 2017 Forbearance Agreement.  

43. Mr. Bloom testified that he was not provided with a complete set of documents 

reflecting the prior transactions between the Antos and KCI
8
 and that misrepresentations were 

made regarding the prior transactions by CBCI. 

44. In the 2017 Forbearance Agreement, the Antos Parties, Spanish Heights and 

SJCV acknowledged default and affirmed CBCI has fully performed.  

45. The 2017 Forbearance Agreement contains an acknowledgement that the prior 

agreements between the Antos and CBCI are valid.  

Par. 8.7 Enforceable Amended Note and Modified Deed of Trust/No Conflicts.  The 

Amended Note and Modified Deed of Trust and the Forbearance Agreement, are legal, 

valid, and binding agreements of Antos Parties and the SJCV Parties, enforceable in 

accordance with their respective terms, and any instrument or agreement required 

hereunder or thereunder, when executed and delivered, is (or will be) similarly legal, 

valid, binding and enforceable.  This Forbearance Agreement does not conflict with any 

law, agreement, or obligation by which Antos Parties and the SJCV parties is bound. 

 

46. In connection with the 2017 Forbearance Agreement, on November 3, 2017, the 

Antos Trust conveyed the Property to Spanish Heights. 

47. A lease agreement between Spanish Heights as the Landlord, and SJCV as the 

Tenant, was executed by both Spanish Heights and SJCV on or around August 15, 2017.   

48. The lease agreement between Spanish Heights and SJCV indicates that the lease 

term is two years, with an option for SJCV to exercise two additional consecutive lease 

                                                 
8
  The Court finds that regardless of whether all of the prior transactional documents were provided to Mr. 

Bloom, Mr. Bloom was on notice of the prior transactions.  The 2017 Forbearance Agreement clearly identifies the 

nature of the prior transactions in the section entitled “The Parties and Background” which begins on page 1 of the 

document. 
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extensions.   

49. Pursuant to the terms of the 2017 Forbearance Agreement, Spanish Heights was 

to make certain payments to CBCI and other parties. In addition, a balloon payment of the total 

amount owing, under the Note, was due on August 31, 2019. 

50. Pursuant to the 2017 Forbearance Agreement, SJCV affirmed all obligations due 

to CBCI under the Note and Modified Deed of Trust.  

51. The 2017 Forbearance Agreement provides in pertinent part, “CBCI is free to 

exercise all of its rights and remedies under the Note and Modified Deed of Trust…”  

52. The 2017 Forbearance Agreement states the rights and remedies are cumulative 

and not exclusive, and may be pursued at any time.  

53. As part of the 2017 Forbearance Agreement, there were certain requirements of 

Spanish Heights attached as Exhibit B to the 2017 Forbearance Agreement.  

54. Among the requirements was the understanding that the First Lien holder would 

pay the real property taxes, that CBCI would pay the 1st and 2nd Mortgage payments to prevent 

default, that Spanish Heights would make certain repairs and improvements to the Property, 

Spanish Heights would maintain the Property, and Spanish Heights would pay for a customary 

homeowner’s insurance policy and all Homeowner’s Association dues. 

55. In addition to the requirements of the 2017 Forbearance Agreement, there was 

additional security to be provided by Spanish Heights, SJCV, and others.  

56. Among the additional security was a Pledge Agreement, through which the 

members of Spanish Heights pledged 100% of the membership interest in Spanish Heights.
9
  

                                                 
9
  The Pledge Agreement states in pertinent part: 

 

THIS PLEDGE AGREEMENT dated 27
th

 (sic)(this “Agreement”) is made by Kenneth & Sheila Antos 
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57. The Pledge Agreement provides in pertinent part, “Secured Party shall have the 

right, at any time in Secured Party’s discretion after a Non-Monetary Event of Default … to 

transfer to or to register in the name of Secured Party or any of Secured Party’s nominees any or 

all of the Pledged Collateral.”  

58. Pursuant to the Pledge Agreement, upon an event of default, Pledgors (SJCV and 

Antos) appointed CBCI as Pledgors’ attorney-in-fact to execute any instrument which Secured 

Party may deem necessary or advisable to accomplish the purposes of the Pledge Agreement.  

59. The Pledge Agreement was signed on September 27, 2017, by the Antos and Mr. 

Bloom as purported manager on behalf of Spanish Heights.  No separate signature block for 

SJCV appears on the Pledge Agreement. 

60. Paragraph 17 of the Pledge Agreement contained a notice provision which 

required notice to the Pledgors to be given to Pledgors through Plaintiffs’ current counsel, Maier 

Gutierrez & Associates. 

61. As additional required security, SJCV agreed to a Security Agreement to grant 

CBCI a Security Interest in a Judgment described as: 

 
SJCV represents that First 100, LLC, and 1st One Hundred Holdings, 

LLC, obtained a Judgment in the amount of $2,221,039,718.46 against 

Raymond Ngan and other Defendants in the matter styled First 100, LLC, 

Plaintiff(s) vs. Raymond Ngan, Defendant(s), Case No, A-17-753459-C in 

the 8th Judicial District Court for Clark County, Nevada (the “Judgment”), 

SJCV represents It holds a 24,912% Membership Interest in 1st One 

Hundred Holdings, LLC. SJCV represents and warrant that no party, other 

                                                                                                                                                             

Living Trust (the Antos Trust”), SJC Ventures, LLC (“SJCV”)(collectively the “Pledgors”) to  CBC 

Partners I, LLC, a Washington limited-liability company (“Secured Party” or “CBCI”). 

 

*** 

 

WHEREAS, Pledgors are the owners of 100%, of the membership interests (the “Membership Interests”) 

of Spanish Heights Acquisition Company, LLC, a Nevada limited liability company (“SHAC”), which has 

been organized pursuant to the terms of the Limited Liability Company Agreement of Spanish Heights 

Acquisition Company, LLC. 
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than the Collection Professionals engaged to collect the Judgment, have a 

priority to receive net Judgment proceeds attributable to SJCV before 

SJCV; and that SJCV shall receive Its interest at a minimum in pari passu 

with other parties who hold interests in the Judgment. 1st One Hundred 

Holdings, LLC, represents and warrant that no party, other than the 

Collection Professionals engaged to collect the Judgment and certain other 

creditors of 1st One Hundred Holdings, have a priority to receive net 

Judgment proceeds prior to distributions to 1st One Hundred Holdings 

Members; and that SJCV shall receive Its interest at a minimum in pari 

passu with other parties who hold interests in the Judgment. 
 

62. In addition to the other consideration in the 2017 Forbearance Agreement, the 

Antos Trust signed a Personal Guaranty Agreement, guaranteeing to CBCI the full and punctual 

performance of all the obligations described in the 2017 Forbearance Agreement.  

63. Pursuant to the Amendment to Forbearance Agreement and Related Agreements, 

dated December 1, 2019 (the “Amendment to 2017 Forbearance Agreement”), SJCV
10

 

acknowledged that it pledged its membership interest in Spanish Heights as collateral for the 

2017 Forbearance Agreement.
11

 

                                                 
10

  An argument has been made that SJCV did not pledge its stock under the original Pledge Agreement.  

Given the notice provision in the original Pledge Agreement, Mr. Bloom’s signature as manager on behalf of 

Spanish Heights, rather than SJCV, and the language of the Pledge Agreement reflecting a pledge of 100% of the 

interest in membership of Spanish Heights, it appears the signature line for Mr. Bloom may have been incorrect.  

Mr. Bloom is not the manager of Spanish Heights; Mr. Bloom is the manager of SJCV, which serves as the manager 

of Spanish Heights. The language in  paragraphs 5 and 9 of the Amendment to the 2017 Forbearance Agreement 

reaffirms SJCV’s pledge of its membership interest. 

 
11

  The Amendment to the 2017 Forbearance Agreement states in pertinent part: 

 

WHEREAS, on or about September 27, 2017, the parties executed a Forbearance Agreement whereby 

CBCI agreed to forbear from exercising the rights and remedies under certain loan documents executed by 

the “Antos Parties.”  In addition to the Forbearance Agreement, the parties executed “Exhibit B” to the 

Forbearance Agreement, a Lease Agreement, an Account Control Agreement, a Membership Pledge 

Agreement, an Assignment of Rents, and a Security Agreement (collectively “the Related Agreements”). 

 

*** 

 

5.  The Membership Pledge Agreement executed by SJCV and the Antos Trust shall remain in effect and 

the execution of this Amendment shall not be considered a waiver of CBCI’s rights under the Membership 

Pledge Agreement. 

 

*** 
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64. On or about December 1, 2019, CBCI, the Antos, Spanish Heights and SJCV 

entered into an Amendment to the 2017 Forbearance Agreement, extending the date of the 

balloon payment to March 31, 2020.    

65. The Amendment to 2017 Forbearance Agreement was signed by the Antos, 

Bloom as purported manager on behalf of Spanish Heights, and Bloom as manager of SJCV.  

66. Pursuant to the Amendment to 2017 Forbearance Agreement, the Security 

Agreement “shall remain in effect and the execution of this Amendment shall not be considered 

a waiver of CBCI’s rights under the Security Agreement…”  

67. Pursuant to the Amendment to 2017 Forbearance Agreement, any amendment 

must be in writing.  

68. On March 12, 2020, Spanish Hills Community Association recorded a Health and 

Safety Lien against the Property.  This Lien was for Nuisances and Hazardous Activities.  

69. On or about March 16, 2020, CBCI mailed a Notice of Non-Monetary Defaults to 

Spanish Heights and SJCV.  This Notice of Non-Monetary Default delineated the following 

defaults: 

1. Evidence of homeowner’s insurance coverage Pursuant to Paragraph 

1(A)(6) of Amendment to Forbearance Agreement and Related 

Agreements; 

2. Evidence of repairs pursuant to Paragraph 3(c)(1) of Exhibit B to 

Forbearance Agreement; 

3. Evidence of Bank of America account balance of $150,000.00 

pursuant to Paragraph 6(c) of Exhibit B to Forbearance Agreement; 

4. Opinion letter from SJC Ventures and 1st One Hundred Holdings 

counsel regarding the Judgment and Security Agreement pursuant to 

Paragraph 1(A)(12) of Amendment to Forbearance Agreement and 

Related Agreements; 

                                                                                                                                                             

9.  The Membership Pledge Agreement executed by SJCV and the Antos Trust shall remain in effect and 

the execution of this Amendment shall not be considered a waiver of CBCI’s rights under the Membership 

Pledge Agreement.    
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5. Evidence of corporate authority for SJC Ventures and 1st One 

Hundred Holdings pursuant to Paragraph 1(A)(13) of Amendment to 

Forbearance Agreement and Related Agreements; and 

6. Evidence of SJC Ventures filing of applications for mortgages to 

refinance 5148 Spanish Heights Drive, pursuant to paragraph 1(C) of 

Amendment to Forbearance Agreement and Related Agreements. 

 

70. On April 1, 2020, a Notice of Default and Demand for Payment was sent to 

Spanish Heights and SJCV.  This letter had a typo on the date of final balloon payment being due 

on March 31, 2021.  This was corrected and emailed to Spanish Height’s and SJCV’s counsel 

noting that the default date was corrected to March 31, 2020.  

71. On April 1, 2020, under separate cover, counsel for CBCI sent a Notice to 

Spanish Heights, SJCV, and Antos that CBCI would exercise its rights under the Pledge 

Agreement by transferring the pledged collateral to CBCI’s nominee CBC Partners, LLC.  

72. On April 1, 2020, CBC Partners received the Assignment of Company and 

Membership Interest of Spanish Heights from the Antos Trust.  

73. On April 3, 2020, a Notice to Vacate was sent to SJCV.  

74. On April 6, 2020, CBCI sold the Note and security associated with the Note, to 

5148 Spanish Heights, LLC.  

75. On May 28, 2020, the Assignment of Interest in Deed of Trust was recorded in 

the Clark County Recorder’s Office as Instrument No 202005280002508. 

76. On September 15, 2020, Notice of Breach and Election to Sell Under Deed of 

Trust was recorded in the Clark County Recorder’s Office as Instrument No 202009150001405.  

77. On December 15, 2020, Notice of Trustee’s Sale was recorded in the Clark 

County Recorder’s Office Instrument No 20201215-0000746. The Sale was scheduled for 

January 5, 2021. 

78. CBCI, through Hallberg, and Mr. Antos, both individually and as Trustee of the 
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revocable living trust as makers; confirm the original debt and the Deed of Trust as collateral for 

the Note.  

79. 5148 Spanish Heights, LLC, issued a new Notice of Default on January 4, 2021. 

80. NRS 107.080 sets forth the notice requirements that were followed by 5148 

Spanish Heights, LLC, and Nevada Trust Deed Services.  

81. Plaintiff has shown no defect or lack of adequate statutory notice in the current 

notice. 

82. NRS 47.240 provides for conclusive presumptions relevant to certain provisions 

of the relevant documents.
12

   

83. Nothing in the evidence presented during these proceedings provides any basis for 

departure from the conclusive presumptions recited in the agreements between the parties.
13

  

84. At this time, CBCI has acquired the Antos interest in Spanish Heights through the 

Pledge Agreement.  The membership interest in a limited liability company is not an interest in 

                                                 
12

  NRS 47.240  Conclusive presumptions.  The following presumptions, and no others, are conclusive: 

     

  *** 

 

2.  The truth of the fact recited, from the recital in a written instrument between the parties thereto, or their 

successors in interest by a subsequent title, but this rule does not apply to the recital of a consideration. 

 
13

  For purposes of this proceeding, the Court applies the conclusive presumptions of  NRS 47.240 to the 

following : 

 

From the Pledge Agreement:   

 

WHEREAS, Pledgors are the owners of 100%, of the membership interests (the “Membership Interests”) 

of Spanish Heights Acquisition Company, LLC, a Nevada limited liability company (“SHAC”), which has 

been organized pursuant to the terms of the Limited Liability Company Agreement of Spanish Heights 

Acquisition Company, LLC. 

 

From the Amendment to the 2017 Forbearance Agreement:  

 

WHEREAS, on or about September 27, 2017, the parties executed a Forbearance Agreement whereby 

CBCI agreed to forbear from exercising the rights and remedies under certain loan documents executed by 

the “Antos Parties.”  In addition to the Forbearance Agreement, the parties executed “Exhibit B” to the 

Forbearance Agreement, a Lease Agreement, an Account Control Agreement, a Membership Pledge 

Agreement, an Assignment of Rents, and a Security Agreement (collectively “the Related Agreements”). 
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real property.  Title to the Property remains in Spanish Heights. 

85. Plaintiff has not established unanimity of interest in title to the Property. 

86. Plaintiff has not established an intent on behalf of the creditor to merge their lien 

with equitable title. 

87. Plaintiff has provided no evidence that the 2017 Forbearance Agreement and 

Amendment to the 2017 Forbearance Agreement are vague or ambiguous. 

88. Plaintiff has provided no evidence of fraud or misrepresentation by any 

Defendant. 

89. If any findings of fact are properly conclusions of law, they shall be treated as if 

appropriately identified and designated. 

III. Conclusions of Law 

 

1. The legal standard for granting injunctive relief is set forth in NRS 33.010, which 

provides: 

Cases in which injunction may be granted. An injunction may be 

granted in the following cases: 
 
1. When it shall appear by the complaint that the plaintiff is 

entitled to the relief demanded, and such relief or any part thereof 

consists in restraining the commission or continuance of the act 

complained of, either for a limited period or perpetually. 
 
2. When it shall appear by the complaint or affidavit that the 

commission or continuance of some act, during the litigation, 

would produce great or irreparable injury to the plaintiff. 
 
3. When it shall appear, during the litigation, that the 

defendant is doing or threatens, or is about to do, or is procuring or 

suffering to be done, some act in violation of the plaintiff’s rights 

respecting the subject of the action, and tending to render the 

judgment ineffectual. 

 

 

2. Given the current bankruptcy stay, the Court extends the existing injunctive relief 
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entered January 5, 2021, pending further order from the Bankruptcy Court.  

3. The relevant documents, including, but not limited to, the 2017 Forbearance 

Agreement and Amendment to Forbearance Agreement and Related Agreements, dated 

December 1, 2019, are clear and unambiguous as a matter of law 

4. The Note is secured by the Property. 

5. As a condition precedent to the Fourth, Seventh, Ninth, and Tenth Modifications 

to the Note, a Deed of Trust encumbering the Property was required. 

6. The Antos Parties had authority, individually and as Trustees of the Antos Trust, 

to encumber the Property with the Deed of Trust to CBCI. 

7. Plaintiffs have waived any defects, acknowledged the encumbrance and agreed, in 

writing to pay twice; first in the 2017 Forbearance Agreement and second, in the Amendment to 

the 2017 Forbearance Agreement. 

8. Plaintiffs agreed in the 2017 Forbearance Agreements to pay the amounts in 

question by separate promise to the Antos Parties.  

9. The Antos Trust received an indirect benefit from the transactions related to the 

Deed of Trust. 

10. Mr. Antos testified that the Property was used as security in exchange for 

additional capital and release of other collateral from CBCI . 

11. Mr. Antos agrees with CBCI that Plaintiffs have failed to perform. 

12. NRS 107.500 is only required of owner-occupied housing.  

13. The doctrine of merger provides that “[w]henever a greater and a less estate 

coincide and meet in one and the same person, without any intermediate estate, the less is 

immediately merged in the greater, and thus annihilated.”  31 C.J.S. Estates § 153.  
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14. Plaintiffs have made no showing of the applications of the doctrine of merger in 

this case. As no interests have merged, and there is no showing of intent to merge 

15. The one-action rule “does not excuse the underlying debt.” Bonicamp v. Vazquez, 

120 Nev. 377, 382-83, 91 P.3d 584, 587 (2004).  

16. The One-Action Rule prohibits a creditor from “first seeking the personal 

recovery and then attempting, in an additional suit, to recover against the collateral.” Bonicamp, 

120 Nev. at 383, 91 P.3d at 587 (2004).  When suing a debtor on a secured debt, a creditor may 

initially elect to proceed against the debtor or the security.  If the creditor sues the debtor 

personally on the debt, the debtor may then either assert the one-action rule, forcing the creditor 

to proceed against the security first before seeking a deficiency from the debtor, or decline to 

assert the one-action rule, accepting a personal judgment and depriving the creditor of its ability 

to proceed against the security. NRS 40.435(3); Bonicamp, 120 Nev. at 383, 91 P.3d at 587 

(2004).  

17. The “One-Action Rule” was specifically waived by the debtor.  The Deed of Trust 

paragraph 6.21(a) states:  

Trustor and Guarantor each waive all benefits of the one-action 

rule under NRS 40.430, which means, without limitation, Trustor 

and Guarantor each waive the right to require Lender to (i) proceed 

against Borrower, any other guarantor of the Loan, any pledgor of 

collateral for any person’s obligations to Lender or any other 

person related to the Note and Loan Documents, (ii) proceed 

against or exhaust any other security or collateral Lender may 

hold, or (iii) pursue any other right or remedy for Guarantors’ 

benefit. 

 

18. The 2017 Forbearance Agreement paragraph 25 gives the benefit of cumulative 

remedies.  

The rights and remedies of CBCI under this Forbearance 

Agreement and the Amended Note and Modified Deed of Trust are 
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cumulative and not exclusive of any rights or remedies that CBCI 

would otherwise have, and may be pursued at any time and from 

time to time and in such order as CBCI shall determine in its sole 

discretion. 

 

19. The Court concludes as a matter of law that the Plaintiffs have not established 

facts or law to support the claim that the One-Action Rule bars recovery under the defaulted 

Note and Security documents.  

20. The Court’s Temporary Restraining Order, filed January 5, 2021, will remain in 

place pending further order of the Bankruptcy Court. 

21. If any conclusions of law are properly findings of fact, they shall be treated as if 

appropriately identified and designated. 

JUDGMENT 

 Based upon the foregoing Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law, and other good 

cause appearing: 

  IT IS HEREBY ORDERED, ADJUDGED AND DECREED that as to the 

Claims for Declaratory Relief, the Court declares the third position Deed of Trust is a valid 

existing obligation against the Property.  

  IT IS FURTHER ORDERED, ADJUDGED AND DECREED that as to the 

Claims for Declaratory Relief, the Court declares that the Note is a valid existing obligation. 

 IT IS FURTHER ORDERED, ADJUDGED AND DECREED that as to the 

Claims for Declaratory Relief, the Court declares that the Pledge Agreement is a valid existing 

obligation of SJCV. 

 IT IS FURTHER ORDERED, ADJUDGED AND DECREED that as to the 

Claims for Declaratory Relief, the Court declares that the acquisition of a membership interest in 

Spanish Heights does not merge the Defendants interests.  
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 IT IS FURTHER ORDERED, ADJUDGED AND DECREED that as to the 

Claims for Declaratory Relief, the Court declares that there has been a valid waiver of the One-

Action Rule. 

Dated this 6
th

 day of April, 2021 

 

_________________________________ 

Elizabeth Gonzalez, District Court Judge 

 

 

Certificate of Service 

I hereby certify that on the date filed, a copy of the foregoing Findings of Fact and 

Conclusions of Law was electronically served, pursuant to N.E.F.C.R. Rule 9, to all registered parties in 

the Eighth Judicial District Court Electronic Filing Program.  

           /s/ Dan Kutinac  

         Dan Kutinac, JEA 
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Court. The foregoing Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Judgment was served via the 
court’s electronic eFile system to all recipients registered for e-Service on the above entitled 
case as listed below:

Service Date: 4/7/2021

Dylan Ciciliano dciciliano@gtg.legal

Erika Turner eturner@gtg.legal

MGA Docketing docket@mgalaw.com

Tonya Binns tbinns@gtg.legal

Bart Larsen blarsen@shea.law

Max Erwin merwin@gtg.legal

If indicated below, a copy of the above mentioned filings were also served by mail 
via United States Postal Service, postage prepaid, to the parties listed below at their last 
known addresses on 4/8/2021
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Joseph Gutierrez Maier Gutierrez & Associates
Attn:  Joseph A. Gutierrez
8816 Spanish Ridge Avenue
Las Vegas, NV, 89148
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Michael R. Mushkin, Esq. 
Nevada Bar No. 2421 
L. Joe Coppedge, Esq. 
Nevada Bar No. 4954 
MUSHKIN & COPPEDGE 
6070 South Eastern Ave Ste 270  
Las Vegas, NV 89119 
Telephone: 702-454-3333 
Facsimile: 702-386-4979 
Michael@mccnvlaw.com  
jcoppedge@mccnvlaw.com 
 
Attorneys for Defendant and Counterclaimants 
5148 Spanish Heights, LLC and  
CBC Partners I, LLC 
 

DISTRICT COURT 
 

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 
 
SPANISH HEIGHTS ACQUISITION 
COMPANY, LLC, a Nevada Limited Liability 
Company; SJC VENTURES HOLDING 
COMPANY, LLC, d/b/a SJC VENTURES, 
LLC, a Delaware Limited Liability Company, 
 

Plaintiffs, 
v. 
 
CBC PARTNERS I, LLC, a foreign Limited 
Liability Company; CBC PARTNERS, LLC, a 
foreign Limited Liability Company; 5148 
SPANISH HEIGHTS, LLC, a Nevada Limited 
Liability Company; KENNETH ANTOS AND 
SHEILA NEUMANN-ANTOS, as Trustees of 
the Kenneth & Sheila Antos Living Trust and the 
Kenneth M. Antos & Sheila M. Neumann-Antos 
Trust; DACIA, LLC, a foreign Limited Liability 
Company; DOES I through X; and ROE 
CORPORATIONS I through X, inclusive, 
 

Defendants. 

 
Case No. A-20-813439-B 
 
Dept. No.: 11 
 
 
 
 
 

STATUS REPORT REGARDING 
LIFTING OF BANKRUPTCY STAY 

 
CAPTION CONTINUES BELOW 

 

 

 

Case Number: A-20-813439-B

Electronically Filed
7/28/2021 12:12 PM
Steven D. Grierson
CLERK OF THE COURT
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5148 SPANISH HEIGHTS, LLC, a Nevada 
limited liability company; and CBC PARTNERS 
I, LLC, a Washington limited liability company, 
 
Counterclaimants, 
 
v. 
 
SPANISH HEIGHTS ACQUISITION 
COMPANY, LLC, a Nevada Limited Liability 
Company; SJC VENTURES, LLC, a Delaware 
limited liability company; SJC VENTURES 
HOLDING COMPANY, LLC, a Delaware 
limited liability company; JAY BLOOM, 
individually and as Manager, DOE 
DEFENDANTS 1-10; and ROE DEFENDANTS 
11-20, 
 
Counterdefendants. 

 

 
STATUS REPORT REGARDING LIFTING OF BANKRUPTCY STAY 

 
Defendants/Counterclaimants, 5148 Spanish Heights, LLC, and CBC Partners I, LLC, by 

and through their attorney, Michael R. Mushkin, of the law firm of Mushkin & Coppedge, hereby 

submit THIS Status Report to advise the Court that the automatic stay pursuant to 11 U.S.C. §362, 

in Spanish Heights Acquisition Company, LLC’s bankruptcy case was lifted by order of the 

Bankruptcy Court in Case No. BK-21-10501-nmc and entered on July 27, 2021, attached hereto 

as Exhibit A. 

DATED this 28th day of July, 2021 

MUSHKIN & COPPEDGE 

 
/s/Michael R. Mushkin   
MICHAEL R. MUSHKIN, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 2421 
L. JOE COPPEDGE, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 4954 
6070 South Eastern Ave Ste 270  
Las Vegas, NV 89119 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I hereby certify that the foregoing Status Report Regarding Lifting of Bankruptcy Stay 

was submitted electronically for filing and/or service with the Eighth Judicial District Court on 

this 28th day of July, 2021. Electronic service of the foregoing document shall be upon all parties 

listed on the Odyssey eFileNV service contact list.  

 

/s/Karen L. Foley   
An Employee of  
MUSHKIN & COPPEDGE 
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Michael R. Mushkin, Esq. 
Nevada Bar No. 2421 
L. Joe Coppedge, Esq. 
Nevada Bar No. 4954 
MUSHKIN & COPPEDGE 
6070 South Eastern Ave Ste 270  
Las Vegas, NV 89119 
Telephone: 702-454-3333 
Facsimile: 702-386-4979 
Michael@mccnvlaw.com  
jcoppedge@mccnvlaw.com 
 
Attorneys for 5148 Spanish Heights, LLC, 
CBC Partners I, LLC &CBC Partners, LLC  
 

UNITED STATES BANKRUPTCY COURT 
 

DISTRICT OF NEVADA 
 

In re: 
 
SPANISH HEIGHTS ACQUISITION 
COMPANY, LLC, 
 

Debtor 

Case No.: 21-10501-NMC 
CHAPTER 11 
 
ORDER GRANTING RELIEF FROM 

THE AUTOMATIC STAY TO 
PROCEED WITH STATE COURT 
LITIGATION AGAINST DEBTOR 

AND NONDEBTOR PARTIES 
 

 Motion for Relief From the Automatic Stay to Proceed With State Court Litigation 

Against Debtor and Nondebtor Parties [ECF 140] filed by Secured Creditor, 5148 Spanish 

Heights, LLC, a Nevada limited liability company (“Movant” or “5148”), successor-in-interest to 

CBC Partners I, LLC, a Washington limited liability company (“Lender”) came on for oral ruling 

before this Court on July 22, 2021, at 9:30 am, the Honorable Natalie M. Cox, United States 

__________________________________________________________________
Entered on Docket 
July 27, 2021

Case 21-10501-nmc    Doc 161    Entered 07/27/21 13:18:34    Page 1 of 3
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Bankruptcy Judge, presiding. Movants were represented by Michael R. Mushkin, of Mushkin & 

Coppedge, and Debtor Spanish Heights Acquisition Company, LLC was represented by James 

D. Greene, of Greene Infuso, LLP; Secured Creditor City National Bank was represented by 

Andrea M. Gandara, of Holley Driggs; and Secured Creditor The Northern Trust Company, 

successor by merger to Northern Trust Bank, FSB was represented by Blakely E. Griffith, of Snell 

& Wilmer. The Court having reviewed the Motion, Opposition, Declarations, and related filings 

and having considered the arguments of the parties, and with good cause appearing, 

 IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that, for the reasons stated on the record, which the Court 

adopts as its findings of fact and conclusions of law pursuant to Federal Rule of Bankruptcy 

Procedure 7052, the Motion is GRANTED. 

Respectfully submitted by: 

MUSHKIN & COPPEDGE 

/s/Michael R. Mushkin   
MICHAEL R. MUSHKIN, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 2421 
6070 South Eastern Avenue, Ste 270  
Las Vegas, NV 89119 

Approved by: 

GREENE INFUSO, LLP 

/s/James D. Greene   
JAMES D. GREENE, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 2647 
3030 South Jones Boulevard, Ste 101 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89146 

Approved by: 
 
HOLLEY DRIGGS 

/s/Andrea M. Gandara    
RICHARD F. HOLLEY ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 3077 
ANDREA M. GANDARA, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 12580 
400 South Fourth Street, Third Floor 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 

Approved by: 
 
SNELL & WILMER LLP 

/s/Blakeley E. Griffith    
BLAKELEY E. GRIFFITH, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No 12386 
3883 Howard Hughes Pkwy., Ste 1100 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89169 
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LOCAL RULE 9021 CERTIFICATION 

 In accordance with LR 9021, counsel submitting this document certifies that the order 

accurately reflects the court’s ruling and that (check one): 

 The court has waived the requirement set forth LR 9021(b)(1). 

 No party appeared at the hearing or filed an objection to the motion. 

 I have delivered a copy of this proposed order to all counsel who appeared at the 

hearing, and any unrepresented parties who appeared at the hearing, and each has approved or 

disapproved the order, or failed to respond, as indicated below [list each party and whether the 

party has approved, disapproved, or failed to respond to the document]: 

James D. Greene, Andrea M. Gandara, and Blakeley E. Griffith 

 I certify that this is a chapter 7 or 13 case, that I have served a copy of this order 

with the motion pursuant to LR 9014(g), and that no party has objected to the form or content of 

the order. 

 

Case 21-10501-nmc    Doc 161    Entered 07/27/21 13:18:34    Page 3 of 3
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UNITED STATES BANKRUPTCY COURT
DISTRICT OF NEVADA (LAS VEGAS)

                        
                            .   Case No. 21-10501-nmc
IN RE:                      .
                            .   Chapter 11
SPANISH HEIGHTS     .
ACQUISITION COMPANY, LLC,   .

        .   300 Las Vegas Blvd. South
                            .   Las Vegas, NV 89101
               Debtor.      .
                            .   Tuesday, September 28, 2021
. . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   10:56 a.m.

TRANSCRIPT OF ORAL RULING RE: MOTION TO APPOINT TRUSTEE 
WITH CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE FILED BY MICHAEL R. MUSHKIN 

ON BEHALF OF 5148 SPANISH HEIGHTS, LLC, CBC PARTNERS I, LLC,
CBC PARTNERS, LLC [136];

ORAL RULING RE: MOTION TO ENFORCE FILED BY JAMES D. GREENE ON
BEHALF OF SPANISH HEIGHTS ACQUISITION COMPANY, LLC [176];
ORAL RULING RE: MOTION FOR SANCTIONS FOR VIOLATION OF THE

AUTOMATIC STAY AND RELATED RELIEF FILED BY JAMES D. GREEN ON
BEHALF OF SPANISH HEIGHTS ACQUISITION COMPANY, LLC [65]
BEFORE THE HONORABLE NATALIE M. COX (VIA TELECONFERENCE)

UNITED STATES BANKRUPTCY COURT JUDGE

TELEPHONIC APPEARANCES:

For the Debtor: Greene Infuso
By:  JAMES D. GREENE, ESQ.
3030 South Jones Boulevard, Suite 101
Las Vegas, NV 89146
(702) 570-6000

For 5148 Spanish Mushkin & Coppedge
Heights, LLC, CBC By:  MICHAEL R. MUSHKIN, ESQ.
Partners I, LLC, and 6070 South Eastern Avenue, Suite 270
CBC Partners, LLC: Las Vegas, NV 89119

(702) 454-3333

APPEARANCES CONTINUED.

Audio Operator:          Cathy Shim, Remote ECR

Transcription Company:   Access Transcripts, LLC
                         10110 Youngwood Lane
                         Fishers, IN 46038
                         (855) 873-2223
                         www.accesstranscripts.com 

Proceedings recorded by electronic sound recording, 
transcript produced by transcription service.
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          ACCESS TRANSCRIPTS, LLC                       1-855-USE-ACCESS (873-2223)

TELEPHONIC APPEARANCES (Continued):

For City National Holley Driggs Walch Puzey Thompson
Bank: By: ANDREA M. GANDARA, ESQ.

400 South Fourth St, 3rd Floor
Las Vegas, NV 89101
(702) 791 0308

For Larry Bertsch: Carlyon Cica CHTD.
By: DAWN CICA, ESQ.
265 East Warm Springs Road Suite 107
Las Vegas, NV 89119
(702) 685-4444
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1 (Proceedings commence at 10:56 a.m.)

2 THE CLERK:  -- through 3 on the Spanish Heights

3 Acquisition Company, Case Number 21-10501.

4 THE COURT:  Good morning.  Could I have appearances,

5 please? 

6 MR. GREENE:  Good morning, Your Honor.  James Greene

7 on behalf of the debtor-in-possession. 

8 MR. MUSHKIN:  Good morning, Your Honor.  Mike Mushkin

9 on behalf of 5148 and related parties.

10 MS. GANDARA:  Good morning, Your Honor.  This is

11 Andrea Gandara appearing on behalf of the bank. 

12 MS. CICA:  Good morning, Your Honor.  This is Dawn

13 Cica appearing on behalf of Larry Bertsch, the examiner to the

14 manager of the debtor.  

15 THE COURT:  All right.  Thank you.  Is there anything

16 that we need to discuss before I give the rulings?

17 MR. GREENE:  This is James Greene, Your Honor.  Not

18 that I'm aware of, and my understanding is you were just going

19 to issue an oral ruling on the three pending matters.

20 THE COURT:  That is correct.  All right.  I don't

21 hear any.  I intend to go first -- forward first with the

22 motion to enforce that is at ECF 176, move on to the sanctions

23 order, and then to the (audio interference) motion.

24 All right.  This is, again, in respect to the motion

25 to enforce at ECF 176.  On August 24th, 2021, the Court held a
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1 hearing on debtor's motion to enforce filed at ECF 176.  I

2 considered the motion, the opposition filed at ECF 182, the

3 supplement filed at ECF 185, and the arguments of counsel made

4 at the August 24th, 2021 hearing.  

5 Pursuant to Federal Rule of Evidence 201(b), I have

6 also taken judicial notice of any pleadings on the bankruptcy

7 docket in this case and now enter the following findings of

8 fact and conclusions of law pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil

9 Procedure 52 and the Federal Rule of Bankruptcy Procedure 7052.

10 On February 3rd, 2021, the debtor filed its voluntary

11 Chapter 11 bankruptcy petition.  The debtor's voluntary

12 petition contains documentation identifying SJC Ventures

13 Holdings, LLC as its manager and majority member.

14 As of the petition date, debtor and SJCV, the

15 plaintiffs in a lawsuit they instituted against, in pertinent

16 part, CBC Partners I, LLC and 5148 Spanish Heights, LLC in the

17 District Court for Clark County, Nevada at Case Number

18 A-20-813439.

19 Throughout this ruling, I'm going to refer to this

20 prepetition lawsuit as the "state court case" and the CBC and

21 5148 Spanish Heights defendants as the "CBC parties."

22 On February 10th, 2021, the CBC parties filed a

23 motion with this court to either dismiss the bankruptcy case or

24 grant them relief from the automatic stay to proceed with the

25 state court case.  That is at ECF 17.
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1 On March 15, 2021, an evidentiary hearing in the

2 state court case was scheduled regarding five issues previously

3 stipulated by the parties.  As of March 15, 2021, the CBC

4 parties' motion before this Court to either dismiss or provide

5 stay relief was still under advisement.  Nevertheless, counsel

6 for the CBC parties insisted to State Court Judge Gonzalez that

7 continuation of the March 15, 2021 hearing would not violate

8 the automatic stay, a contention which was challenged in the

9 state court case by counsel for plaintiffs, of which the debtor 

10 (indiscernible).  Judge Gonzalez accepted the CBC parties'

11 counsel's position and proceeded with the evidentiary hearing

12 on March 15, 2021.  

13 Judge Gonzalez subsequently entered findings of fact

14 and conclusions of law on April 6th, 2021.  This prompted the

15 debtor to file a motion with this Court requesting sanctions

16 based on the CBC parties' alleged violations of the automatic

17 stay, at ECF 65.

18 On May 26, 2021, this Court entered an order granting

19 in part and denying in part the debtor's motion requesting

20 sanctions, which I refer to throughout this ruling as the

21 "partial contempt order." 

22 On June 15th, 2021, the CBC parties filed a second

23 motion with this Court asking for relief from the automatic

24 stay to proceed with the state court case, at ECF 140.

25 On June 24, 2021, the CBC parties filed a motion in
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1 the state court case seeking the appointment of a receiver over

2 SJCV.  ECF 176-1, Exhibit 1.

3 On July 27, 2021, this Court entered an order

4 granting the CBC parties' motion for relief from the automatic

5 stay to proceed with the state court case.  That's at ECF 161.

6 On August 10th, 2021, Judge Gonzalez entered an order

7 appointing a receiver in the state court case, which I refer to

8 throughout this ruling as the "receiver order," and that's at

9 ECF 176-1, Exhibit 3.

10 On August 12, 2021, the debtor filed its motion to

11 enforce.  By its motion to enforce, the debtor requests that

12 the Court enter an order enforcing its stay violation order and

13 determining that the CBC parties have once again willfully

14 violated the automatic stay by seeking appointment of a

15 receiver and ordering the CBC parties to immediately seek

16 recision of both the April 6th state court ruling and the

17 resulting receivership order based on that ruling.  That was at

18 ECF 176 at Page 6, Lines 16 through 20.

19 Although the legal standard is not identified in the

20 motion to enforce, the debtor essentially asked the Court to

21 find CBC parties in civil contempt on both the partial contempt

22 order and under the automatic stay under 11 U.S.C. 362.

23 As stated during my May 18, 2021 oral ruling, to hold

24 a party in contempt, the movant must show by clear and

25 convincing evidence that the party violated a specific and
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1 definite court order.  The automatic stay qualifies as a

2 specific and definite court order, as does this Court's partial

3 contempt order. 

4 The stay violation also must be willful.  For

5 purposes of finding contempt, willfulness does not depend on

6 the parties' intent or subjective belief.  All the movant needs

7 to show is that the contemnors knew of the automatic stay and

8 that he or she intended the actions that violated the stay.

9 As further stated during my May 18, 2021 oral ruling,

10 the Supreme Court recently clarified the legal standard

11 governing contempt in the discharge context.  As held in

12 Taggart v. Lorenzen, 139 S. Ct. 1795, the "bankruptcy court can

13 exercise its discretion to impose civil contempt sanctions when

14 the contemnor had 'no objectively reasonable basis for

15 concluding that its conduct might be lawful.'  Put differently,

16 when there is no fair ground of doubt as to whether the subject

17 order barred the conduct the violator engaged in, the Court has

18 the discretion to hold the violator in contempt of court."

19 The debtor argued that the CBC parties' filing of the

20 receiver motion and the state court's entry of the receiver

21 order violates the partial contempt order and/or the automatic

22 stay.  The debtor further contends that although purporting to

23 seek relief from the state court solely as to a nondebtor third

24 party, the obvious effect of this effort is to interfere with

25 debtor's reorganization efforts and to undermine debtor's

RA 114



8

          ACCESS TRANSCRIPTS, LLC                       1-855-USE-ACCESS (873-2223)

1 efforts to complete a Chapter 11 plan that would benefit all

2 creditors. 

3 The debtor clarifies in its motion that the motion

4 seeking appointment of a receiver for SJCV is nothing more than

5 an attempt to interfere with debtor's efforts to reorganize and

6 to exercise control of the debtor's assets in violation of the

7 Bankruptcy Code Section 362(a)(3).

8 The debtor further argues that to the extent the

9 April 6th ruling or any subsequent ruling, including the newly

10 issued state court order appointing a receiver for SJCV, which

11 is based upon the Court's findings and conclusions issued on

12 April 6th, 2021 was based on the testimony and arguments made

13 on March 15th, those actions and rulings are void, as well. 

14 As an initial matter, and for the avoidance of doubt,

15 the partial contempt order stated only that the motion is

16 granted in part and the Court finds that the CBC parties

17 violated the automatic stay of 11 U.S.C. 362(a) with respect to

18 the items designated as issues A, B, and C on ECF Number 79-2,

19 Page 3, n.1, Lines 17 through 20.

20 Not stated therein, but recognized by law, and as set

21 forth by debtor in its moving papers is that violations of the

22 automatic stay are void.  Therefore, to the extent that the

23 partial contempt order found the CBC parties pursued if certain

24 of the state court claims was a violation of stay, then any of

25 the state court findings of fact and conclusions of law related
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1 solely to those claims may be void.

2 To the extent that the findings of fact and

3 conclusions of law require clarification as to which claim they

4 relate, it is the state court that is best situated to make

5 that determination and clarify what, if any, findings of fact

6 it relied upon in rendering its conclusions of law.

7 Notably, the state court acknowledged debtor's

8 Chapter 11 case in Footnote 2 of its findings of act and

9 conclusions of law at ECF 112, Exhibit 9, and stated, quote,

10 "As no order lifting the stay has been entered by the

11 bankruptcy court, nothing in this order creates any obligations

12 or liabilities directly related to Spanish Heights, though

13 factual findings related to Spanish Heights are included in its

14 decision."

15 Debtor has argued without citation to any analogous

16 authority with a partial stay violation that the entirety of

17 the April 6th state court decision be rendered void as a result

18 of the partial contempt order.  Debtor has not offered an

19 alternative to its "all or nothing" treatment of the state

20 court's findings of fact and conclusions of law that resulted

21 from that hearing.  

22 This argument is flawed.  This Court did not find the

23 entirety of the March 15, 2021 state court hearing to be in

24 violation of the automatic stay.  Indeed, the Court spent a

25 significant amount of time analyzing the claims as they related
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1 to this debtor to determine that the CBC parties were in

2 violation of the stay for proceeding with some but not all of

3 the claims. 

4 The automatic stay did not prevent the state court

5 hearing from proceeding with respect to claims against the

6 nondebtor parties.  Therefore, determining which findings and

7 conclusions of law, if any, that resulted from that April 6th

8 hearing is not an "all or nothing" proposition.  

9 Were the only parties to the state court case the

10 debtor and the CBC parties, or if the only claims pursued by

11 the CBC parties at the hearing on April 6th were those which

12 this Court ultimately found to be in violation of the stay,

13 only then would debtor's suggestion that the entire hearing and

14 the resulting findings of fact and conclusions of law are void

15 to be accurate.

16 Because those are not the facts, and I only found a

17 partial violation of the automatic stay, however, a blanket

18 finding that the entirety of the April 6th hearing and

19 resulting findings and conclusions of law is not appropriate. 

20 It appears that the state court came to the same

21 conclusion when SJCV made the same argument to the state court

22 via its opposition to the receivership motions at ECF 176-1,

23 Exhibit 2.  SJCV's opposition to the receivership motion raised

24 similar arguments to the state court about violations of the

25 automatic stay and the voidness of the findings of fact and
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1 conclusions of law that resulted therefrom.  Yet, even with

2 this knowledge, the state court judge proceeded to appoint a

3 receiver with respect to SJCV, utilizing findings it made on

4 April 6th.

5 From this, I can infer that the state court judge

6 presumably did not deem the findings of fact argued as relayed

7 by SJCV to foreclose her ability to enter the receiver order. 

8 For all these reasons, I find and conclude that the

9 debtor has not satisfied its burden by clear and convincing

10 evidence to show that the filing of the receivership motion

11 and/or the entry of the receiver order in the state court case

12 constituted civil contempt with the partial contempt order. 

13 Therefore, the Court denies, without prejudice, the motion to

14 enforce to the extent it asked the Court to enforce the partial

15 contempt order.  

16 The debtor's second request for relief asks that I

17 find that the filing of the receivership motion and/or the

18 entry of the receiver order constituted a willful violation of

19 the automatic stay.  The receiver order stated, in pertinent

20 part, the following, Paragraph 2:  "The receiver shall collect

21 the business records of SJCV and any subsidiary and affiliated

22 entities in which SJCV have an ownership interest, specifically

23 First 100, LLC, and Spanish Heights Acquisition Company, LLC"

24 -- (audio interference) --

25 Thank you. 
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1 Paragraph 3:  "The receiver shall determine the

2 efforts made to collect upon the judgment in the matter styled

3 as First 100, LLC v. Raymond" -- I'm not sure how to pronounce

4 the last name, It's spelled N-G-A-N -- "Case Number

5 A-17-753459-C in the Eighth Judicial District Court for Clark

6 County, Nevada and report the financial condition of SJCV to

7 the Court."

8 Paragraph 6:  "Absent further order from the Court,

9 the receiver shall have no other powers, authorities or

10 responsibilities aside from those explicitly stated in this

11 order." 

12 8:  "The receiver shall be the agent of the Court and

13 shall be accountable directly to the Court.  This Court hereby

14 asserts exclusive jurisdiction.  The receiver is authorized to

15 perform a review and accounting of all SJCV's assets, holdings,

16 and interests.  The receiver is empowered to use any and all

17 lawful means to identify the assets, rights, holdings, and

18 interests of SJCV and any subsidiary and affiliated entities

19 with which SJCV has an ownership interest, specifically

20 First 100, LLC, and Spanish Heights Acquisition Company, LLC."

21 Paragraph 9:  "The receiver and the interested

22 parties of the receivership estate may petition this Court for

23 instructions in connection with this order and any further

24 orders which this Court may make."

25 As an initial matter, it is true that as a general

RA 119



13

          ACCESS TRANSCRIPTS, LLC                       1-855-USE-ACCESS (873-2223)

1 rule, the automatic stay does not protect nondebtors, and it

2 protects only debtors, debtors' property, and property of the

3 estate.  Debtor concedes that the receivership motion and

4 receiver order was only directed against a nondebtor party,

5 SJCV. 

6 Case law reflects that the debtor has the option to

7 ask the Court to extend the automatic stay as to nondebtors

8 based on a variety of legal standards, including injunctive

9 relief and/or an unusual circumstances test.  

10 However, debtor has never asked this Court to extend

11 the automatic stay as to the nondebtor, SJCV.  The automatic

12 stay was therefore not violated simply because an action in

13 state court proceeded against debtor's nondebtor manager and

14 member SJCV.

15 Contrary to debtor's further arguments, I find and

16 conclude that the receiver's order does not violate

17 Section 362(a)(3), which makes the automatic stay applicable to

18 any act to obtain possession of property of the estate, or

19 property from the estate, or to exercise control over property

20 of the estate.

21 Debtor argues that SJCV has provided all necessary

22 funds to: (1) provide insurance on debtor's property; (2) make

23 adequate protection payments to debtor's secured lenders, City

24 National Bank and Northern Trust Bank; (3) pay homeowner's

25 association dues; and (4) pay U.S. Trustee fees and other
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1 administrative expenses.

2 By seeking to have a receiver appointed, the CBC

3 parties seek to interfere with SJCV's ability to provide

4 funding to debtor to make the foregoing payments, which in turn

5 puts debtor's ability to reorganize in jeopardy and places its

6 property at risk.

7 Thus, the receiver's motion directly seeks the

8 control of debtor's property and to terminate its ability to

9 reorganize in furtherance of the CBC parties' stated goal of

10 gaining, quote, "a straight line to foreclosure" on the

11 debtor's property.  That was at ECF 176, Page 6, Lines 6

12 through 14.

13 I discussing with debtor's argument for the following

14 reasons.  First and foremost, the receiver order requires the

15 receiver to quote, "use any and all lawful means" in carrying

16 out his obligations under the order.  Clearly, any lawful means

17 as it relates to the debtor and/or property of the estate would

18 involve ensuring that any action taken by the receiver did not

19 violate the automatic stay. 

20 To accept the debtor's premise that a stay violation

21 occurred when the state court entered the receiver order with

22 respect to debtor's nondebtor manager SJCV's interest in the

23 debtors would require the Court to assume without factual or

24 legal evidence that any action taken by the receiver could not

25 be conducted by lawful means.  I'm not going to so find. 
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1 Likewise, I am not going to find that the CBC parties'

2 blackline draft of the receiver order is evidence of a

3 violation of the automatic stay.  

4 Debtor argued that this proposed order exchanged

5 between counsel for the CBC parties and counsel for SJV

6 supports its argument that the CBC parties sought to obtain

7 greater rights than awarded by the state court.  I have

8 reviewed the blackline order and find that this draft, subject

9 to debtor's counsel review and ultimately rejected in large

10 part by the state court, does not demonstrate by clear and

11 convincing evidence that the CBC parties violated the automatic

12 stay.

13 A court order is generally required to extend the

14 automatic stay to nondebtor parties, even where there exists a

15 close relationship between a debtor and nondebtor parties, such

16 that the debtor alleges that absent the extension of the

17 automatic stay to such nondebtor parties the debtor's chances

18 of a successful reorganization would be adversely affected. 

19 My point here is -- and I'm repeating from earlier --

20 it is not otherwise automatic.  Debtor has never asked the

21 Court, again, for relief -- such relief, and the Court is not

22 going to grant such relief sua sponte.  So in light of the

23 foregoing, I find and concludes that the debtor has not

24 satisfied its burden by clear and convincing evidence that the

25 filing of the receiver motion, the proposed language including
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1 the blackline draft of the receiver's order, or the entry of

2 the final version of the receiver order, violated 11 U.S.C.

3 362(a)(3).  For all the reasons, I deny debtor's motion to

4 enforce. 

5 At this point, Mr. Mushkin, will you please prepare

6 an order incorporating by reference my findings and making sure

7 that you circulate to the parties on the call before it gets

8 uploaded.

9 MR. MUSHKIN:  Yes, Your Honor.  I will.

10 THE COURT:  Thank you.  I'm going to take a sip of

11 water here and I'm going to move on to the next one, the

12 sanctions motion.

13 All right.  I'm ready to proceed.  

14 On May 26, 2021, I entered an order granting in part

15 and denying in part motion for sanctions for violations of the

16 automatic stay (indiscernible) Bankruptcy Code Section 362(a)

17 and related relief at ECF 119, which I shall refer to as the

18 "contempt order."

19 The contempt order fully incorporated by reference my

20 findings of fact and conclusions of law stated at the May 18th,

21 2021 hearing.  For the avoidance of doubt, my findings at the

22 May 18, 2021 hearing are also fully incorporated by reference

23 in this oral ruling.

24 The contempt order stated that, quote, "The debtor is

25 entitled to an award of sanctions against the CBC parties for
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1 their stay violations under the standards of Taggart v.

2 Lorenzen, 139 S. Ct. 1975 (2019)."

3 The contempt order also established a briefing

4 schedule regarding sanctions.  I've reviewed and considered all

5 pleadings filed relating to sanctions in response to the

6 contempt order, including Debtor's Second Supplemental Brief at

7 ECF 120, the declaration of Joseph Gutierrez, Esq. at ECF 121,

8 and the declaration of James D. Greene, Esq. at ECF 122.  And

9 finally, the Second Supplemental Opposition Brief filed by

10 5148 Spanish Heights, LLC, CBC Partners I, LLC, and CBC

11 Partners, LLC, at ECF 148, and debtor's reply at ECF 150.  I

12 have also considered the arguments of counsel at the July 13th,

13 2021 hearing.  

14 Pursuant to Federal Rule of Evidence 201(b), I also

15 take judicial notice of both of my orders at ECF 133 and 134,

16 including interim fees for Greene Infuso, LLP and Maier

17 Gutierrez, both of which expressly state that the allowance of

18 fees pursuant to this order shall not act as a waiver of any

19 right of Creditors 5148 Spanish Heights, LLC, CBC Partners I,

20 LLC, or CBC Partners, LLC to challenge the amount of fees that

21 may be requested as sanctions by debtor in connection with the

22 order granting in part and denying in part motion for sanctions

23 for violation of the automatic stay (audio interference)

24 Bankruptcy Code 362(a) and related relief.

25 I further note that my ruling herein does not
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1 predetermine the final amount of compensation that may be

2 awarded to either Greene Infuso or Maier Gutierrez and does not

3 otherwise foreclose them from seeking final approval of fees

4 that may not be awarded as sanctions pursuant to this order.

5 In the case of In Re Cascade Roads Inc., 34 F.3d 756

6 (9th Cir. 1994), the Ninth Circuit recognized that a corporate

7 debtor may recover damages for purported violation of the

8 automatic stay pursuant to general principles of ordinary civil

9 contempt and under 11 U.S.C. Section 105(a).  

10 In its reply, the debtor cites to In Re Pace, 67 F.3d

11 187 (9th Cir. 1995), which also cites to Cascade Roads and

12 recognizes this principle for purposes of Chapter 7 Trustee's

13 ability to recover damages for a party's violation of the

14 automatic stay. 

15 Both Cascade Roads and Pace further recognize that an

16 award of damages under Section 105(a) is discretionary.  To the

17 extent the Court exercises its discretion and power to award

18 damages under Section 105(a), such damages should be

19 compensatory and not punitive, though I observe that the Ninth

20 Circuit has also noted that mild non-compensatory damages may

21 be appropriate, cited by In Re Dyer, 322 F.3d 1178 (9th Cir.

22 2003) and In Re Urwin, 2010 WL 148645 (Bankr. D. Idaho

23 January 14, 2010).

24 Compensatory damages include those damages that are

25 sufficient in amount to indemnify the injured person for the
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1 loss suffered, essentially placing the injured party in as good

2 a position as it would have been absent the violation. 

3 In order to recover such damages, the party asserting

4 compensatory damages must specifically prove not only the right

5 to damages but also the amount of damages.  In proving

6 compensatory damages, the existence and amount of damages must

7 be based upon more than mere conjecture.

8 The party seeking contempt sanctions may recover as

9 compensatory damages all fees included in enforcing the

10 automatic stay, including those incurred in pursuing damages

11 resulting from the stay violation.  In re Moo Jeong, 2020 WL

12 1277575 (B.A.P. 9th Cir. March 16, 2020).

13 In its reply, the debtor states that it has incurred

14 significant attorneys' fees and expenses as a direct and

15 proximate result of the CBC parties' stay violation.  These

16 damages fall under two basic categories:  (1) attorneys' fees

17 and costs incurred as a result of the wrongful continuation of

18 the state court trial on March 15, 2021, and the resultant

19 April 6, 2021 state court order which were incurred primarily

20 but not exclusively by debtor's court-approved special counsel

21 Maier Gutierrez; and (2) attorneys' fees and costs including

22 prosecuting the sanctions motion arising from the efforts of

23 debtor's general bankruptcy counsel, Greene Infuso, LLC, and by

24 Maier Gutierrez, who prepared and submitted a declaration in

25 support of the sanctions motion at ECF 66 and assisted in the
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1 drafting of the sanctions motion and the subsequent briefing

2 requested by the Court.

3 The Court first focuses on Maier Gutierrez's

4 attorneys' fees and costs requested from March and April of

5 2021.  I further observe that although Mr. Gutierrez indicated

6 an intention in his declaration to supplement the record with

7 fees and expenses incurred in May 2021, he did not do so.  

8 In his supporting declaration, Joseph A. Gutierrez, a

9 partner with the law firm of Maier Gutierrez and Associates,

10 attests that the firm incurred $12,143.13 in attorneys' fees

11 and costs for March and April 2021 as a result of the violation

12 of the automatic stay.  ECF 121, Paragraph 6.

13 Attached to Mr. Gutierrez's declaration are various

14 billing records and invoices which aggregate to thousands of

15 dollars more than the requested declaration.  The declaration,

16 however, does not specify which costs and expenses identified

17 in the attached exhibits add up to the $12,143.13 in attorneys'

18 fees and costs requested. 

19 Invoice Numbers 22628 and 22689 attached to the

20 Gutierrez declaration include $3,951 in fully redacted time

21 entries.  Mr. Gutierrez attests in Paragraph (indiscernible) of

22 his declaration that the redacted fees are unrelated to

23 (indiscernible) on behalf of debtor as a result of the

24 violation of the bankruptcy stay.  For the avoidance of the

25 doubt, the Court therefore denies these $3,951 in fully
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1 redacted time entries.

2 Invoice Number 22628 attached to the Gutierrez

3 declaration includes $2,660 in attorneys' fees and $225 in

4 costs incurred prior to the March 15, 2021 hearing.  The

5 Court's findings of fact and conclusions of law read into the

6 record at the May 18, 2021 hearing determined that a partial

7 violation of the automatic stay occurred at the March 15, 2021

8 state court hearing. 

9 The Court did not make any finding regarding the

10 (indiscernible) stay violation at any time prior to such date. 

11 Mr. Gutierrez represents nondebtor parties in the state court

12 action and would have nevertheless been obligated by his

13 representation to prepare for the March 15, 2021 hearing. 

14 Counsel did not specify the amount of time, if any, that he

15 spent solely in anticipation of his representation of the

16 debtor at the March 15th hearing.  For these reasons, to the

17 extent counsel is requesting $2,660 in attorneys' fees and $225

18 in costs incurred prior to March 15, 2021, I deny such a

19 request. 

20 Invoice Numbers 22628 and 22689 attached to the

21 Gutierrez declaration include the following expenses:  On

22 3/18/2021, $160 for court fees/Clark County Treasurer.  March

23 31, 2021, 51 cents for postage.  March 31, 2021, $33.95 for

24 copies and prints.  On the same date, March 31, 2021, $24.70

25 for color copies and prints.  April 30, 2021, $3.50 for court
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1 fees.  April 30, 2021, $6.65 for copies and prints.  Same date,

2 $1.30 for color copies and prints.  Same date, $250 for court

3 fees in 201722/Bloom Jay A-0-813439-B and $500 for court fees,

4 same reference numbers, 201722 Bloom Jay A-20-813439-B.

5 These expenses aggregate to $980.61.  Neither

6 Mr. Gutierrez's declaration nor the debtor provide an

7 explanation for these expenses in relation to the partial stay

8 violation (indiscernible) in the identifying language and

9 invoices not otherwise show in this case that these expenses

10 were incurred to remedy the partial violation of stay.  Such

11 expenses are therefore denied.

12 Also attached to the Gutierrez declaration is a past

13 due invoice dated December 1st, 2020 from Oasis Reporting

14 Services for $225.  The Court assumes this expense relates to

15 the previously denied March 5, 2021 expense for $225 identified

16 on Invoice Number 22628.  To the extent it is not, and for the

17 avoidance of doubt, this expense reflected in an invoice dated

18 more than three months prior to the March 15, 2021 hearing is

19 denied as it cannot, as a matter of law and fact, relate to a

20 future (indiscernible). 

21 This leaves the Court with the remainder of the

22 requested fees and expenses not previously denied.  First,

23 Invoice 22628 identifies $5,401 in attorneys' fees and $23 in

24 expenses incurred on the day of the March 15, 2021 state court

25 hearing.  The Court is persuaded that the entirety of such fees
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1 and expenses were incurred at the applicable March 15, 2020

2 [sic] state court hearing, the continuation of which the Court

3 previously found constituted a partial violation of the

4 automatic stay.

5 Invoice 22628 identifies $968.99 in expenses, as

6 further evidenced by attached invoices regarding expedited

7 orders of transcripts of the March 15, 2021 state court

8 hearing.  The Court is persuaded that the entirety of such

9 expenses incurred in relation to the March 15, 2021 state court

10 hearing and prosecution of the partial stay violation.

11 Invoice 22689 identifies $1,190 incurred by Daniel --

12 Danielle -- sorry -- Barraza and $891 incurred by Mr. Gutierrez

13 doing essentially the same thing, i.e. reviewing the March 15,

14 2021 state court transcript and discussing the same with their

15 clients and the debtor's bankruptcy counsel. 

16 The Court believes that these fees are not

17 compensable here because, (A) the primary purpose for special

18 counsel is to litigate the state court matters, which also

19 included representation of several nondebtor clients, special

20 counsel who was not intended to overlap with the role of

21 bankruptcy counsel who has a role of vindicating alleged

22 violations of the automatic stay, and debtor's bankruptcy

23 counsel spent substantial time and incurred substantial fees

24 reviewing the same transcript for which special counsel now

25 seeks remuneration from creditor. 
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1 To summarize, the Court has little doubt Maier

2 Gutierrez has asserted fees and expenses to $5,401 in

3 attorneys' fees and $991.99 in expenses.  This aggregates to

4 $6,392.99, but this is not the amount the Court will award.  As

5 previously noted, Maier Gutierrez represents other nondebtor

6 parties, and the issues relevant to nondebtor parties were also

7 decided at the March 15, 2021 hearing indeed are the five

8 stipulated issues the Court decided at the March 15, 2021

9 hearing.  This Court found a partial stay violation as to three

10 of them, or 60 percent of the issues. 

11 The Court, in utilizing its discretion under Section

12 105(a) and case law -- and as supported by case law, will

13 therefore only award 60 percent of these fees and expenses. 

14 This amounts to $3,835.79.

15 I now turn my attention to the fees and expenses

16 asserted by debtor's bankruptcy counsel, Greene Infuso, LLP. 

17 In the initial declaration of James D. Greene at ECF 122,

18 Mr. Greene contends that Greene Infuso incurred $19,375 in fees

19 through May 28, 2021.  In its reply at ECF 150, Greene Infuso

20 asserts an additional $1,612.50 in fees through June 30, 2021. 

21 The total requested fees aggregate to $20,887.50.

22 Greene Infuso's requested fees are nearly three times

23 the amount of the unobjectionable fees and nearly five times

24 the awarded fees the Court found regarding Maier Gutierrez's

25 time.  I further observe that Maier Gutierrez essentially

RA 131



25

          ACCESS TRANSCRIPTS, LLC                       1-855-USE-ACCESS (873-2223)

1 conducted (indiscernible) its attorneys have higher hourly

2 billing rates than does Mr. Greene.

3 I am familiar with Mr. Greene, as he is a regular

4 participant before this Court, and I find him to be a very

5 experienced (indiscernible) and highly-competent bankruptcy

6 professional.  Seeking contempt from an automatic stay

7 violation is a relatively common endeavor in bankruptcy court

8 and one in which I am confident Mr. Greene has substantial

9 prior knowledge.  

10 After thoroughly reviewing all of Greene Infuso's

11 invoices and the pleadings on the docket and being mindful of

12 the discretion and nature of my authority that is constrained

13 by my obligation to not veer too far away from (indiscernible)

14 compensatory damages, and further taking into account my

15 historical knowledge of the time it should take experienced

16 counsel of Mr. Greene's caliber to prosecute such motions to

17 conclusion, I find and conclude that an overall award of $3,750

18 is appropriate.

19 In conclusion, pursuant to my prior holding that

20 creditor partially violated the automatic stay, and my

21 discretionary authority to award sanctions under 11 U.S.C.

22 Section 105(a), the precedential case law previously discussed,

23 I award $3,750 in attorneys' fees to Greene Infuso and

24 $3,835.79 in attorneys' fees and costs to Maier Gutierrez.

25 I did note that my ruling here is limited solely to
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1 the matter before memory today and does not otherwise

2 predetermine any final award of fees to Greene Infuso and Maier

3 Gutierrez. 

4 Debtor's bankruptcy counsel, Mr. Greene, shall

5 prepare, circulate, and upload an order for my signature,

6 incorporating my findings of fact and conclusions of law, and I

7 would like the order to require that creditors pay the sum no

8 later than 30 days after entry of that order.

9 MR. GREENE:  Thank you, Your Honor.  This is

10 James Greene.  I will do so.

11 THE COURT:  Thank you. 

12 All right.  Give me one more moment here while I take

13 a drink of water and I'll move on to the last decision. 

14 All right.  I'm ready to proceed.  On July 22nd,

15 2021, the Court held a hearing on the motion to appoint a

16 Chapter 11 Trustee, or in the alternative motion to convert or

17 dismiss bankruptcy case, filed by 5148 Spanish Heights, LLC,

18 CBC Partners I, LLC, and CBC Partners, LLC.  I'll now render my

19 oral ruling on this matter.

20 As an initial matter, I would like the parties to

21 understand what was going on in the background.  I did not -- I

22 have taken some time, as you know, to consider this motion, and

23 I do not take that -- my consideration lightly.  I spent a

24 significant amount of time reviewing the papers, and that

25 includes the 650 pages of exhibits that were filed in support
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1 of the motion.

2 I will note that I don't think the parties were as

3 helpful as they could be in making the connections between the

4 admissible evidence or even (indiscernible) that was offered in

5 their arguments, but I want you to understand that I did take

6 that time that was spent and spent a considerable amount of it

7 really going through and making sure that I understood the

8 whole world of evidence that I had before me.

9 And I want to also point out that -- although time

10 has passed since the July 22nd hearing, I have only considered

11 the record as it existed at the time I took this matter under

12 advisement on July 22nd, 2021, and I have not considered

13 anything that has occurred after that date.

14 Throughout this oral ruling, I will refer to the

15 moving parties as the "CBC parties."  I have considered the

16 arguments of counsel, as well as the pleadings and all

17 supporting exhibits, declarations, and exhibits filed at

18 ECF 136, 137, 138, 139, 151, 152, 156.  Pursuant to Federal

19 Rule of Evidence 201(b), I also take judicial notice of all

20 pleadings on the bankruptcy docket in this case.  I now enter

21 the following findings of fact and conclusions of law pursuant

22 to Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 52 and Federal Rule of

23 Bankruptcy Procedure 7052.

24 By their motion, the CBC parties asked the Court to

25 appoint a trustee under 11 U.S.C. 1104(a) or, in the
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1 alternative, dismiss or convert the case under 11 U.S.C.

2 1112(b).  Section 1112(b) states that on request of a party in

3 interest, and after notice and a hearing, the Court shall

4 convert a case under this chapter to a case under Chapter 7, or

5 dismiss a case under this chapter, whichever is in the best

6 interest of creditors and the estate, for cause, unless the

7 Court determines that the appointment under 1104(a) of a

8 trustee and examiner is in the best interest of creditors and

9 the estate.  

10 The burden of establishing cause rests with the party

11 seeking the relief under Section 1112(b)(1).  That's -- that

12 was stated in In Re Rosenblum, 609 B.R. 854 (Bankr. D. Nev.

13 2019) citing In Re Labankoff 2010 WL 6259969, (B.A.P. 9th Cir.

14 June 13, 2010).

15 Section 1112(b)(4) provides a nonexclusive list of

16 circumstances that may constitute cause to dismiss or convert. 

17 The operative command in Section 1112(b)(1) that the court

18 shall convert a case to Chapter 11 proceeding is subject to the

19 exceptions set forth in 1112(b)(2).  The exception commonly

20 characterizes a defense to conversion (indiscernible) because

21 the burden of establishing its requirements rests on the

22 opponent.

23 Under Section 1112(b)(2), if the moving party

24 establishes the existence of cause under Section 1112(b)(1),

25 then the opponent can prevent conversion and dismissal if four
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1 requirements are met:  (1) The Court identifies unusual

2 circumstances establishing that such relief is not in the best

3 interest of creditors and the estate; (2) the opponent

4 establishes that there is a reasonable likelihood of confirming

5 a plan in a reasonable amount of time; (3) the opponent

6 establishes that the grounds for relief include an act or

7 omission of the debtor for which there is a reasonable

8 justification; and (4) the opponent establishes that the act or

9 omission can be cured within a reasonable time. 

10 Because these provisions are in the conjunctive, the

11 opponent to conversion and dismissal under Section 1112(b)(1)

12 has the burden of proving all four elements, citing In Re

13 Rosenblum 609 B.R. 854 (Bankr. D. Nev. 2019). 

14 Section 1104(a) states that the Court shall order the

15 appointment of a trustee for one of two reasons:  One, for

16 cause, including fraud, dishonesty, incompetence, or gross

17 mismanagement of affairs of debtor by current management either

18 before or after the commencement of the case or similar cause

19 but not including the number of holders of securities of the

20 debtor or the amount of assets or liabilities of the debtor, or

21 if such appointment is in the interest of creditors in the

22 equity security holders and other interest of the estate

23 without regard to the number of holders of securities of the

24 debtor or the amount of assets or liabilities of the debtor. 

25 The moving party has the burden to show that one or
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1 both of these independent bases support the appointment of a

2 Chapter 11 Trustee.  I observed that the CBC parties made a lot

3 of allegations and arguments in their motion, a "throw

4 everything but the kitchen sink" approach.  Although some

5 arguments were more developed than others, I have considered

6 all arguments that arguably could be claimed as support for the

7 relief requested under Section 1104(a) and 1112(b).

8 Notably, several of the factual assertions advanced

9 by the CBC parties are directly challenged by Jay Bloom via a

10 declaration he signed under penalty of perjury.  The CBC

11 parties have not rebutted the statements made by Mr. Bloom's

12 declaration by declaratory or other admissible evidence. 

13 Although the CBC parties' motion stated that if the

14 Court determines sufficient facts do not exist to grant the

15 relief requested in the motion, the movants respectfully

16 request the opportunity to conduct discovery and set this

17 matter for an evidentiary hearing. 

18 I do not find this to be an express request for an

19 evidentiary hearing obligating the Court to first review their

20 motion, analyze the facts, (indiscernible) argument -- and only

21 in the event I find that additional evidence is required, then

22 detail what evidence is required and schedule an evidentiary

23 hearing.  It is not the Court's role to litigate the motion,

24 but it is instead movant's obligation to determine what

25 evidence may be required and proceed accordingly.
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1 Although I have considerable discretion in deciding

2 whether to conduct an evidentiary hearing in contested matters

3 -- see, for example, In Re Weisband, 2011 WL 3303453 (B.A.P.

4 9th Cir. June 13, 2011), I decline to do so in this case for

5 the aforementioned reasons.

6 It is undisputed that debtor's real property is

7 leased to SCJV [sic].  It is undisputed, as identified in the

8 voluntary petition, that SJCV is the manager and majority

9 member of the debtor.  It is undisputed that Jay Bloom is a

10 self-professed manager and owner of SJCV.  And that comes from

11 the voluntary petition, Page 6, of (indiscernible) declaration

12 Paragraph 2.

13 It is undisputed that a state court judge in a

14 prepetition state court case unrelated to the CBC parties found

15 and/or concluded that, quote, "Bloom is the alter ego of

16 defendants, which were (audio interference) First 100, LLC, and

17 First 100 Holdings, LLC."  And that comes from ECF 137-1,

18 Exhibit A, Page 33, Paragraph 29.

19 Neither First 100, LLC or First 100 Holdings, LLC

20 appear to be parties to this case.  It is undisputed that the

21 same state court judge found that the defendants, quote, "have

22 been single manager managed with SJ Ventures Holding Company,

23 LLC, appointed the sole manager with Bloom as the sole manager

24 of SJC."  That's at ECF 137-1, Exhibit A, Page 2, Paragraph 2.

25 It is unclear from the record if SJ's Interest
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1 Holding Company, LLC is the same entity as SJCV, but the

2 parties appear to be proceeding as if they are.  Specifically,

3 the CBC parties argue that this constitutes a finding that

4 Mr. Bloom is the alter ego of SJC.  Debtors and Bloom respond

5 that the case that I just mentioned did not involve SJCV, the

6 alleged alter ego finding was, in fact, a responsible party

7 finding and the ruling on the findings therein are the subject

8 of a pending appeal. 

9 There is no evidence from which I can determine which

10 of the arguments to be true, to the extent it is even relevant

11 here.  Therefore, I am not relying on these assertions in

12 making my decision.  It is undisputed that Mr. Bloom and his

13 family reside in the property.  Mr. Bloom contests via his

14 declaration the CBC parties' contention regarding other people

15 living on the property, though the CBC parties have not made

16 clear the significance of the dispute regarding the CBC

17 parties' contention that two domestic employees reside on the

18 property along with Mr. Bloom and his family.  That's in the

19 motion at Page -- Paragraph 5.  

20 The CBC parties further appear to argue that the

21 rental obligation under the applicable lease is below market

22 value, stated in Paragraph 5 of the motion, that quote, the

23 lease provided for rent of $4,375 per month, which seems an

24 inordinately low rent for a property the debtor values at $6.2

25 million.  However, the CBC parties did not present any evidence
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1 in support of their contention that this monthly rental

2 obligation is below market rate.

3 The CBC parties further cite to the debtor's initial

4 statement of financial affairs, pointing out that they do not

5 identify the payment of any rent by SJCV for calendar years

6 2019 and 2020.  In its opposition, the debtor argues without

7 evidentiary support that movants are well aware that because of

8 the amount of rent provided for (indiscernible) was not

9 sufficient to cover the first and second mortgage payments, SJC

10 Ventures as tenant made the prepayments of rent through

11 December 2024 wherein (indiscernible) prepayments were tendered

12 to or on behalf of debtor prior to March of 2020 by making

13 mortgage payments directly to CNB and NTB for the benefit of

14 debtor.  Movants were well aware of this fact because the issue

15 had been raised and explored in the state court action.  That's

16 at ECF 151, at Page 6 -- let's see, Paragraph 28, Lines 7 --

17 I'm sorry, Lines 28 through 7 [sic].

18 The debtor further cites to a March 5, 2021 amended

19 statement of financial affairs identifying more than $360,000

20 of revenue issued from SJCV for calendar years 2019 and 2020,

21 which included monthly rental obligations.  ECF

22 (indiscernible). 

23 The amended statement of financial affairs was signed

24 by Jay Bloom under penalty of perjury and therefore constitutes

25 admissible evidence that has not been rebutted by the CBC
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1 parties via admissible evidence. 

2 While there is case law to support the proposition

3 that the appointment of a trustee is warranted under 1104(a)(2)

4 based on, among other things, the debtor's failure to collect

5 rents from insiders and/or the debtor's providing of rent

6 credits and setoffs to insider tenants -- there I'm referring

7 to case In Re Royal Alice Properties, LLC, 2020 WL 5357795

8 (Bankr. E.D. La. September 4, 2020). 

9 In those cases, the court was able to make such a

10 ruling based on a strong evidentiary record.  By contrast here,

11 as I just pointed out, the only admissible evidence that is

12 made under penalty of perjury is by Mr. Bloom.  The CBC parties

13 offered no admissible evidence refuting the debtor's statements

14 regarding SJCV's prepayments of rents during prepetition

15 period. 

16 For these reasons, I find and conclude that the CBC

17 parties have failed to satisfy their burden under Section

18 1104(a) and Section 1112(b) to the extent they argue that the

19 alleged insider relationship (indiscernible) debtor, Mr. Bloom,

20 and/or SJCV either standing alone or in conjunction with the

21 allegations involving a below market rental obligation and/or

22 failure to pay rent rises to the level of cause.

23 The CBC parties' arguments additionally rely in large

24 part on the debtor's original schedules.  Yet, as debtor points

25 out, it has since filed amended schedules with the most recent
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1 version appearing at ECF 53.  The CBC parties do not address

2 whether it is their position that the amendments are irrelevant

3 or whether alleged omissions in the initial filings are fatal

4 regardless of subsequent amendment.

5 Notwithstanding the CBC parties' failure to define

6 for the Court the basis for their objections (indiscernible),

7 the Court notes that the issue is one of bad faith.  Numerous

8 courts have found that dismissal of a Chapter 11 case for bad

9 faith is appropriate where the Court has found numerous factual

10 misrepresentations and omissions made by debtor on financial

11 statements and bankruptcy pleadings.

12 Those cases, however, tend to include egregious

13 behavior much more than just anything alleged here where the

14 only objecting party is immersed in a lengthy state court

15 battle that began before this case was filed regarding, among

16 other things, debtor's challenge to CBC parties' claim as a

17 secured creditor and even the debtor's manager status as a

18 co-obligor.

19 To the extent that CBC parties take issue with the

20 manner in which disclosures were made regarding its alleged

21 claim and the co-obligor status of SJCV (indiscernible) that

22 the CBC parties were identified even in the initial schedules,

23 the CBC parties' claim appears to be the subject of

24 considerable dispute pursuant to a currently pending state

25 court case initiated prepetition, and the CBC parties' claim is
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1 still subject to considerable dispute in this bankruptcy case.

2 Indeed, I granted stay relief to the CBC parties to

3 continue with the state court litigation for the purpose of

4 resolving that dispute once and for all.  For these reasons, I

5 find and conclude that the CBC parties have not satisfied their

6 burden to show that any of the disclosures or omissions in the

7 debtor's initial schedules rise to the level of cause under

8 either Sections 1104(a) or 1112(b).

9 I also find and conclude that the CBC parties have

10 not satisfied their burden regarding any such disclosures or

11 omissions in debtor's amended schedules for the aforementioned

12 reasons, and further because the CBC parties did not address

13 the amended schedules in the pleadings.

14 Next, the CBC parties attach as Exhibit B to their

15 motions charts of summaries of other prepetition cases they

16 allege contains findings of fact and/or conclusions of law by

17 judges regarding Mr. Bloom's alleged wrongdoings.  This chart

18 is not supported by a declaration of the person or persons who

19 prepared the summary, and therefore essentially (audio

20 interference) to inadmissible hearsay for the purposes of this

21 motion. 

22 Additionally, I cannot take judicial notice of these

23 summaries under Federal Rule of Evidence 201(b).  Therefore, I

24 cannot determine if Mr. Bloom was found to have committed any

25 wrongdoing and how many such alleged wrongdoings translates to
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1 this case.

2 Another of the CBC parties' many arguments is that

3 cause exists under Section 1112(b)(4)(I) which defines cause to

4 include failure to timely pay taxes owed after the date of the

5 order for relief or to file tax returns due after the date of

6 the order for relief.

7 I deal with the failure to pay postpetition taxes

8 (indiscernible) focus now on the alleged failure to file

9 postpetition tax returns.  In order to prevail under this

10 section, the moving party must establish that the debtor failed

11 to file postpetition tax returns.  Once that burden is met,

12 debtor may avoid dismissal if it can establish an excusable

13 reason for the failure to comply with the Bankruptcy Code.

14 Here, the CBC parties submitted evidence that

15 Mr. Bloom previously admitted under oath that he had failed to

16 file tax returns for debtor.  In support therefore, the CBC

17 parties cite to their Exhibit C, transcript of proceedings

18 preliminary injunction hearing and trial, March 15, 2021, Day

19 4, Volume 2, Page 13, Lines 5 through 11.

20 Assuming without deciding that the testimony is not

21 rendered void by this Court's prior order finding a partial

22 violation of stay at such hearing, I find the cited reference

23 to be misleadingly incomplete. 

24 March 15, 2021, just one month after the petition

25 date, is the date the CBC parties assert Mr. Bloom made his
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1 admission regarding the filing of tax returns for debtors. 

2 Thus, the only admissible evidence in the record is that

3 Mr. Bloom never filed for tax returns for the debtor at least

4 through March 15, 2021, the date of his testimony.  

5 There is no evidence in the record, however, that

6 establishes that with the requisite proof that debtor failed to

7 file his tax returns after March 15, 2021.  Mr. Bloom's

8 statement potentially preceded the postpetition filing

9 deadlines, rendering Mr. Bloom's statement inconclusive as to

10 whether the debtor complied with the Bankruptcy Code with

11 respect to the filing of tax returns. 

12 This alone requires denial of this argument; but even

13 if it was not, the argument still fails because the CBC parties

14 have failed to refute Bloom's testimony setting forth an

15 arguably reasonable justification for his failure to file tax

16 returns for debtors. 

17 A review of the aforementioned transcript which the

18 CBC parties rely upon to suggest the violation of 1123(b)(4)(I)

19 shows additional language not cited by the CBC parties that

20 pertinent and unless,  in addition to admitting to never having

21 filed tax returns for debtors, Mr. Bloom's testimony goes on to

22 explain the reason for failing to file tax returns.  It would

23 only have losses, that is no tax liability, and the cost of

24 preparation would have been more than the losses realized. 

25 It is this qualifying language that can be construed
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1 as a justifiable excuse that CBC fails to cite and fails to

2 refute.  For these reasons, I find and conclude that the CBC

3 parties have failed to satisfy their burden under Sections 1104

4 or 1112 for failure to file tax returns on its behalf.

5 Next, the CBC parties argued that they commissioned

6 an inspection of the debtor's real property and provided a

7 report of repairs to the debtors, SJCV, and/or Mr. Bloom.  The

8 CBC parties allege that such repairs, which aggregate to

9 approximately $150,000, have not been done.  Although it is

10 unclear from the motion to which subsection of 1112(b) this

11 allegation relates, movants again, however, have not sustained

12 their burden to prove this fact with admissible evidence.  In

13 Paragraph 13 of his declaration, Mr. Bloom does not dispute the

14 existence of the report, but states that he met with the

15 property manager and we disagree with many of the items

16 (indiscernible).  

17 There are many items in the report that were very

18 minor and readily fixed or that do not need to be repaired. 

19 There are also numerous items in the report that have been

20 repaired in the over 14 months since it was issued.  Nothing in

21 the report indicates what the anticipated cost of the repairs

22 would be.

23 In the absence of a rebuttal by the CBC parties with

24 admissible evidence, and without the ability to judge the

25 necessity, severity, and costs of the repairs identified on the
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1 report as admissible evidence presented by the CBC parties as

2 compared to the credibility of Mr. Bloom's declaratory

3 testimony, I cannot find and conclude that the CBC parties have

4 satisfied their burden with respect to these alleged repairs

5 under either Sections 1104(a) or 1112(b).  

6 The CBC parties further claim that the Spanish Hills

7 [sic] Community Association recorded with the Clark County

8 Recorder a prepetition health and safety lien for nuisances and

9 hazardous activities relating to fireworks that (indiscernible)

10 in the amount of $19,000, although it is unclear from the

11 motion to which subsection of Section 1112(b) this allegation

12 relates.  Movants again, however, have not sustained their

13 burden to prove this fact with admissible evidence. 

14 In his declaration, Mr. Bloom attests that a

15 neighboring resident was the violating party and he disputes

16 the propriety of the HOA's fine and lien against debtor's real

17 property.  At the July 22, 2021 hearing, debtor's counsel

18 stated that he intended to file an objection to the HOA's

19 claim.  Disputes regarding prepetition claims are a regular

20 occurrence in bankruptcy proceedings.  In the absence of a

21 rebuttal by the CBC parties with admissible evidence and

22 without the ability to judge the credibility of Mr. Bloom's

23 testimony as it occurred during an evidentiary hearing, I

24 cannot find and conclude that the CBC parties have satisfied

25 their burden with respect to alleged such repairs under either
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1 Sections 1104(a) or 1112(b).

2 The CBC parties further allege that they have a valid

3 lien against debtor's real property, as well as an assignment

4 of all rents paid under the lease with SJCV.  The CBC parties

5 argue that the debtor has not made a single postpetition

6 payment to it, and the CBC parties have not authorized the

7 debtor to use its cash collateral that would be generated via

8 rental payments.

9 As previously noted, the CBC parties have not

10 presented any admissible evidence to refute the debtor's

11 assertion that SJCV prepaid its rent during the prepetition

12 period, and the debtor therefore has not generated cash

13 collateral during the course of this case.  This is supported

14 by the debtor's monthly operating reports which only show

15 capital infusion.

16 Additionally, as previously noted, the validity and

17 amount of the CBC parties' claim has been in dispute since the

18 inception of its bankruptcy case and indeed well prior to the

19 filing of the bankruptcy case, as evidenced by the parties'

20 pending state court lawsuit (indiscernible) same. 

21 Specifically in its Amended Schedule D, the debtor

22 lists CBC Partners I, LLC, as holding a contingent and disputed

23 secured claim in the amount of $5.5 million.  The CBC parties

24 have since filed Proof of Claim 8 alleging a secured claim in

25 excess of $6.2 million.  
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1 Disputes regarding the validity and extent of a

2 disputed secured creditor's claim are an ordinary part of

3 bankruptcy cases, and the CBC parties have not satisfied their

4 burden to show that the current dispute is an extraordinary

5 event that requires anything more than the normal claims

6 allowance and objection process available under the Bankruptcy

7 Code.

8 The CBC parties additionally take issue with what

9 they claim are debtor's incomplete and/or incorrect disclosures

10 asserted in its schedules and disclosure statement.  Regarding

11 the disclosure statement, I agree with the debtor that any

12 alleged deficiencies are more appropriately addressed via

13 motion practice pursuant to the standards annunciated under the

14 Bankruptcy Code, and more specifically 11 U.S.C. Section 1125. 

15 To address the alleged deficiencies via motion alleging

16 (indiscernible) under the facts of this particular case would

17 require me to render an impermissible advisory opinion that the

18 disclosure statement failed to contain adequate information

19 under Section 1125.  I decline that request. 

20 Regarding the schedules, I've previously addressed

21 the debtor's filing of amended schedules and the CBC parties'

22 failure to address the same.

23 Finally, the CBC parties point to the debtor's

24 schedules to highlight the listing of prepetition taxes and

25 utilities that remained unpaid as of the petition date.  It is
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1 unclear if the CBC parties are relying on prepetition

2 indebtedness as a basis for their contention that Section

3 1112(b) is (indiscernible) warranted.  To the extent it is, I

4 disagree and do not find that such prepetition indebtedness

5 rises (indiscernible) cause.  

6 The CBC parties further emphasize that debtor's

7 failure to pay taxes has extended to the postpetition period. 

8 If proven, that would constitute cause under 11 U.S.C. Section

9 1112(b)(4)(I).  In support thereof, the CBC parties attach as

10 Exhibit L to their motion a document titled, quote, "Property

11 account inquiry for 5148 Spanish Heights Drive" printed from

12 the following website:  URL https://trtitle.co.clark.nv.us,

13 which appears to show a postpetition tax indebtedness. 

14 However, as previously noted, the CBC parties did not support

15 any of their factual contentions with declaratory evidence.  It

16 is unclear to the Court the basis for the CBC parties'

17 arguments that I may consider Exhibit L as admissible evidence. 

18 My independent research has uncovered case law

19 stating that a court may take judicial notice of the contents

20 of government websites.  That's a district court out of Nevada,

21 U.S. v. Kane 2013 WL 5797619 (D. Nev. October 28, 2013).  And

22 Exhibit L does appear to be information obtained from the Clark

23 County Treasurer's website.  

24 Yet, even were I to take judicial notice of the

25 content, there are still factual gaps unanswered by the CBC
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1 parties.  For example, when were the postpetition taxes owed by

2 the debtor?  A date is not identified anywhere in the record. 

3 11 U.S.C. Section 1112(b)(4)(I) applies to a failure to file or

4 to pay postpetition taxes.

5 Exhibit L shows a substantial tax liability owed by

6 the debtor, but it does not provide this Court with a clear

7 indication that any of the tax liability was a result of

8 debtor's failure to timely pay postpetition taxes.  As with the

9 CBC parties' other arguments, (indiscernible) allegations but

10 did not give me enough of admissible factual record to put them

11 over the goalpost.  For this reason, I cannot reach any other

12 conclusion than to find and conclude that the CBC parties have

13 not satisfied their burden to show cause under 11 U.S.C.

14 Section 1112(b)(4)(I) based on the debtor's failure to pay

15 postpetition taxes, and I therefore deny the motion without

16 prejudice.

17 I'll ask debtor's counsel, Mr. Greene, to upload an

18 order (audio interference) incorporates my findings of fact and

19 conclusions of law by reference. 

20 MS. GREENE:  This is James Greene.  I will do that,

21 Your Honor. 

22 THE COURT:  All right then.  This concludes the 10:30

23 calendar.  We can go off record.

24 MR. GREENE:  Thank you, Your Honor.  Have a good day.

25 (Proceedings concluded at 11:56 p.m.)
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IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA 

No. 82794 

FILE 

FIRST 100, LLC, A NEVADA LIMITED 
LIABILITY COMPANY; AND FIRST 100 
HOLDINGS, LLC, A NEVADA LIMITED 
LIABILITY COMPANY, A/K/A 1ST ONE 
HUNDRED HOLDINGS, LLC, A NEVADA 
LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY, 
Appellants, 
vs. 
TGC/FARKAS FUNDING, LLC, 
Res • ondent. 

MAR 1 7 2022 

ORDER AFFIRMING IN PART AND DISMISSING IN PART 

This is an appeal from a post-judgment order denying a motion 

to enforce a settlement agreement and holding appellants and a nonparty 

in civil contempt. Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County; Mark R. 

Denton, Judge.' 

On January 7, 2021, Matthew Farkas executed a Settlement 

Agreement on behalf of respondent wherein respondent agreed to dismiss 

the underlying litigation against appellants. Following an evidentiary 

hearing, the district court entered an order finding that the Settlement 

Agreement was not a valid contract because Farkas lacked actual or 

'Pursuant to NRAP 34(f)(1), we have determined that oral argument 
is not warranted in this appeal. 
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apparent authority to bind respondent.2  The district court's order also held 

appellants and nonparty Jay Bloom in civil contempt for their failure to 

comply with a previous order requiring them to produce appellants books 

and records. As a sanction for the contempt, the district court indicated 

that it would award respondent a to-be-determined amount of attorney fees 

and costs. 

On appeal, appellants contend (1) the district court erred in 

finding that Farkas lacked apparent authority to bind respondent to the 

Settlement Agreement, and (2) the district court erred in holding nonparty 

Bloom personally liable for the fees and costs. 

With respect to appellants' first argument, appellants contend 

that the district court overlooked an August 2020 declaration from 

respondent's manager, Adam Flatto, wherein he stated that Farkas was 

and continued to be respondent's "Administrative Member." However, 

Flatto's declaration also stated that "[u]nder Section 3.4 of [respondent's] 

Operating Agreement, the Administrative Member can only take action to 

bind [respondent] after consultation with, and consent of, all [respondent's] 

members," i.e., Flatto. Thus, Flatto's declaration is consistent with the 

district court's finding that Farkas lacked authority to bind respondent 

without Flatto's consent and provides no support for appellants' argument. 

To the extent that appellants argue that they (via Bloom) thought Farkas 

2The district court also appears to have found that the Settlement 
Agreement was invalid due to a lack of consideration or, alternatively, 

because it was not negotiated in good faith. In light of our resolution of this 
appeal, we need not address the parties' arguments regarding these 
findings. 

SUPREME COURT 

OF 

NEVADA 

(0) I947A 94E99 
2 
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had obtained Flatto's consent to execute the Settlement Agreement despite 

that consent having not been communicated to them, substantial evidence 

supports the district court's finding that such a belief would have been 

objectively unreasonable. See Mack v. Estate of Mack, 125 Nev. 80, 95, 206 

P.3d 98, 108 (2009) ("[T]he question of whether a contract exists is one of 

fact, requiring this court to defer to the district court's findings unless they 

are clearly erroneous or not based on substantial evidence." (internal 

quotation marks omitted)); Great Am. Ins. Co. v. Gen. Builders, Inc., 113 

Nev. 346, 352, 934 P.2d 257, 261 (1997) CA party claiming apparent 

authority of an agent as a basis for contract formation must prove (1) that 

he subjectively believed that the agent had authority to act for the principal 

and (2) that his subjective belief in the agent's authority was objectively 

reasonable.").' In particular, the district court's order identified multiple 

previous instances wherein Flatto had communicated to Bloom that Farkas 

could not bind respondent without Flatto's consent, with the most notable 

instance being a 2020 arbitration award wherein the panel invalidated a 

different agreement between respondent and appellant that Farkas had 

purported to execute on behalf of respondent.3  Accordingly, we conclude 

3In this respect, the only evidence appellants identify to support their 

position that Farkas represented to Bloom that he had obtained Flatto's 
consent to execute the Settlement Agreement is a fleeting comment made 
by Bloom at the evidentiary hearing. However, Farkas testified at the 
evidentiary hearing that he did not make any such representations to 

Bloom and that he had "made it clear to [Bloom] over the years that he 
needs to speak to [Flatto] and the lawyere because Farkas "was not in a 
position to make any decisions on behalf of [respondent]." To the extent 
that the district court's findings weighed the credibility of this competing 

testimony, we decline to reweigh those findings. Ellis v. Carucci, 123 Nev. 

SUPREME COURT 
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that substantial evidence supports the district court's finding that Farkas 

lacked apparent authority and, consequently, that the Settlement 

Agreement was invalid and unenforceable. 

With respect to appellants second argument, respondent 

contends that this court lacks jurisdiction because Bloom, who is the only 

person aggrieved by the district court holding him personally liable, was not 

a party to the underlying proceedings and did not file a writ petition 

challenging the district court's order. Cf. Mona v. Eighth Judicial Dist. 

Court, 132 Nev. 719, 724-25, 380 P.3d 836, 840 (2016) ([W]here the 

sanctioned party was not a party to the litigation below, he or she has no 

standing to appeal."); Detwiler v. Eighth Judicial Dist. Court, 137 Nev., Adv. 

Op. 18, 486 P.3d 710, 715 (2021) (Where no rule or statute provides for an 

appeal of a contempt order, the order may properly be reviewed by writ 

petition."). Appellants do not meaningfully refute respondent's contention 

but instead argue that they are challenging the district court's order insofar 

as it held them liable for the fees and costs. We decline to consider this 

argument because appellants' opening brief did not allude to any such 

argument. See Francis v. Wynn Las Vegas, LLC, 127 Nev. 657, 671 n.7, 262 

P.3d 705, 715 n.7 (2011) (observing that this court generally declines to 

consider arguments raised for the first time in a reply brief). Accordingly, 

we agree with respondent that we lack jurisdiction in the context of this 

145, 152, 161 P.3d 239, 244 (2007) ([W]e leave witness credibility 

determinations to the district court and will not reweigh credibility on 
appeal."). 
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appeal to consider whether the district court appropriately held nonparty 

Bloom personally liable for the fees and costs. 

In light of the foregoing, we affirm the district court's 

challenged order insofar as it found the January 7, 2021, Settlement 

Agreement to be unenforceable. We also dismiss this appeal insofar as it 

challenges the district court's decision to hold nonparty Bloom personally 

liable for fees and costs as a civil contempt sanction. 

It is so ORDERED.4  

, Sr. J. 

CC: Hon. Mark R. Denton, District Judge 
Persi J. Mishel, Settlement Judge 
Maier Gutierrez & Associates 
Garman Turner Gordon 
Eighth District Court Clerk 

4The Honorable Mark Gibbons, Senior Justice, participated in the 
decision of this matter under a general order of assignment. 

5 

Ale4 , J. 
Stiglich 
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